
SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
MEETING 

 
SUMMONS 
 

10.30 am  
Tuesday, 3rd November, 2020 
 

REMOTE MEETING -  
MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

 
Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  

 This recording may be broadcast on Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s 
internet.  All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 

recordings being used as outlined above. 
 

Further information regarding this agenda is available from the  
Democratic Services Department at Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council  

Tel: (01685) 725284     Email: democratic@merthyr.gov.uk 

 

A G E N D A 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

 



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is the host local authority for the South Wales 
Police and Crime Panel 

 

3. Appointment of a Chief Constable   

 To consider the attached report 
 

3 - 74 

4. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair   
 

  
COMPOSITION: Councillor R Young (Bridgend CBC) (Chair) 
  
 Councillors: 

B Bowen-Thomson (Cardiff Council), J Cowan (Cardiff 
Council), R Lewis (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC), 
G Thomas (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC), P Rees (Neath 
Port Talbot CBC), C Richards (City and County of 
Swansea), W Evans (City and County of Swansea), 
B Gray (Vale of Glamorgan) and S Jago (Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC) 
 
Co-optees: 
M Jehu (Vice-Chair) 
Mr Ian Fox 
 

 together with appropriate officers 
 



Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales 

Report to the Police and Crime Panel on the Appointment of a Chief Constable 

Tuesday 3rd November 2020 

 

Background 

I had commenced a recruitment process to appoint a new Chief Constable, the need to appoint 

a new Chief Constable follows the appointment of the current Chief Constable, Matt Jukes 

QPM, as Assistant Commissioner of the Metropolitan Police. Dates for the process were 

chosen to ensure that South Wales was not left for too long without the certainty of a knowing 

the new Chief Constable at such a demanding and critical time. Below I have provided the 

Panel with details of the recruitment process and the information that had been made available 

to potential applicants for the post. In additional the Panel have a copy of the independent 

member report into the process, which was also overseen as required by my Chief Executive. 

I confirm that the post was advertised from the 22nd September 2020 to the 14th October 2020 

and was placed on the following websites 

 Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales 

 South Wales Police 

 Association of Police and Crime Commissioners 

 National Police Chief’s Council 

 The College of Policing  

In addition details were made available to all individual Chief Officers at Assistant Chief 

Constable and above in England and Wales via the College of Policing.  This open and 

transparent approach ensured that the vacancy was drawn to the attention of all qualified 

officers across England and Wales and more widely. 

A copy of the Advertisement, Information Pack which was available to all candidates is 
attached for the Panel’s attention at appendices A and B respectively. 
 
My Recruitment Approach 

Deciding who will lead South Wales Police for the coming years to succeed Matt Jukes is the 

most important single decision that I have to take as the Police & Crime Commissioner and it 

is important not only for the police service but for all the communities of South Wales. 

The three candidates who were short-listed demonstrated high levels of competence and 

vision as they went through a grilling by three specialist panels and then a formal interview 

process in which I and my Deputy Commissioner, Emma Wools, were joined by four 

distinguished senior leaders from other agencies including Welsh Government and Local 

Government in Wales. Jeremy Vaughan came through all those elements of the process as 

being the stand-out candidate 

Despite the difficulties created by an unremitting period of tough financial cuts – and the 

financial challenges have not gone away - Matt Jukes has continued the journey aimed at 

developing South Wales Police into one of the leading forces in the UK, with a balance of high 

performance in responding to crime and supporting victims while intervening early and working 

with partners to prevent crime in the first place and create safe, confident communities across 

South Wales. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



In line with the previous recruitment process for Matt Jukes, I drew on my own experience of 

participating in a challenging process of confirmation hearings on a number of occasions.  Two 

of these were scrutiny by the Home Affairs Select Committee of the Home Secretary’s 

preferred candidate to be HM Chief Inspector of Constabulary and similar scrutiny by the 

Justice Select Committee of the preferred candidate for the role of Information Commissioner.  

Both involved detailed and challenging questioning of the candidate by all members of the 

Select Committee and showed that such a challenging process can provide test a candidate 

constructively and openly and provide real public assurance of their suitability for the role. 

I therefore arranged a number of stakeholder panels which took place on the 21st October 

2020 involving a variety of people with expertise and a genuinely well-informed interest in 

South Wales Police.  

 One was undertaken by the Independent Joint Ethics Committee who provided 
questions on issues of ethical policy and public interest.   

 A second included representatives from voluntary and community sector organisations 
with a focus on partnership and equalities. 

 A third involved senior representatives from our key partners in Local Government 
Leaders and Chief Executives who have an interest in the way that South Wales Police 
will perform in the future and are well able to explore joint action to tackle future 
challenges. 

 
A list of the panel members who participated in the process is attached at appendix C. 
 
That process was followed by a formal interview on 23rd October 2010 by an expert panel 

which I chaired. A list of the panel members who undertook the formal interview is also 

included at appendix C. 

I ensured that the guidance issued by the College of Policing for the appointment of Chief 

Officers was closely followed throughout the process.  

Recommendation to appoint a Chief Constable for South Wales 

As a result of this stringent approach I am pleased to say that the recommendations from all 

those who participated in the process was that Deputy Chief Constable Jeremy Vaughan 

should be confirmed as the next Chief Constable for South Wales. Today I therefore seek the 

endorsement that is required under schedule 8 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility 

Act 2011.  I am very happy to respond to any questions from the Panel.  

Independent Member Report 

I attach herewith a copy of the report (appendix D) provided by Gill Lewis, the Independent 

Member who sat on the appointment panel.  She has confirmed that the process was 

conducted in line with the principles of merit, fairness and openness. Gill is trained, 

experienced and competent in assessment and selection practices and has completed 

appropriate briefing/assessor training on the appointment of Chief Officers. She has previously 

acted in the capacity of Independent Member for Chief Constable appointments across 

England and Wales, providing reassurance on the process we have adopted. 

The new Chief Constable will take the helm of a fine Police Force but the considerable and 

continuing operational and financial challenges should not be underestimated. There will be 

opportunities to thank Peter Vaughan for his contribution, which has been enormous, and I 

pay tribute to the support that he has given to me in seeking to use this period of leadership 

renewal as a means of becoming fully prepared for those challenges. 

Page 4



I commend the appointment of Jeremy Vaughan to be Chief Constable of South Wales Police 

to the Panel for approval. 

 

Rt. Hon. Alun Michael 

Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 

 

 

 

SOUTH WALES POLICE 
APPOINTMENT OF THE CHIEF CONSTABLE 

 
The Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales, Alun Michael, invites applications 
for the role of Chief Constable.   
 
South Wales Police has a proud history. It includes Cardiff, the capital city of Wales and it 
serves 42% of the population of Wales. Each year our area also attracts an estimated 25 
million visitors and stages some 200 major events. 
 
I am seeking a highly motivated and experienced senior officer to work with me and to 
lead the Chief Officer team to deliver the vision set out in the Policing and Crime Plan, 
which includes early intervention and prompt positive action, co-operation with others to 
prevent and reduce harm and “to be the best at understanding and responding to our 
communities’ needs”. The successful candidate will be based at South Wales Police 
Headquarters, Bridgend and will take up the post following the resignation of the current 
Chief Matt Jukes QPM. 
 
Applicants must have appropriate experience at Deputy Chief Constable or Assistant 
Chief Constable rank. Non United Kingdom applicants must have served in an approved 
overseas police force rank.  
 

 The annual salary is £162,840 (review pending) and a car is provided for duty use 
(and private use subject to private running costs and tax being met by the post 
holder).   The successful candidate will be expected to reside within the force area 
following appointment. The appointment will be subject to the relevant legislation and 
to such other conditions as may be agreed by the Commissioner in relation to the 
appointment. The role is subject to an initial fixed term appointment for up to five 

years. The post holder will be expected to have at least a level 2 standard to 

communicate in the Welsh language or achieve it within 2 years of taking up the post.  
 
Application Packs can be obtained from commissioner@south-wales.pnn.police.uk  
 
Candidates who wish an informal discussion about the force should, in the first instance, 
contact Lee Jones, Chief Executive 01656 869366 lee.jones6@south-wales.pnn.police.uk  
 

The closing date for applications is 17:00 Thursday 8th October. Completed 

applications must be submitted either by post to Police and Crime Commissioner, 

Police Headquarters, West Gate, Cowbridge, CF7 7AR or by email to 

commissionervacancy@south-wales.pnn.police.uk .Shortlisted candidates will be invited 

to attend interactive panel sessions on and interviews will be held the week commencing 

19th October 2020. 

The Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales is committed to equal opportunities 

and would welcome applications from all eligible persons irrespective of gender, ethnic 

origin, religious belief, sexual orientation or disability. 

 
Rt. Hon. Alun Michael 
Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales 

Page 7

mailto:commissioner@south-wales.pnn.police.uk
mailto:lee.jones6@south-wales.pnn.police.uk
mailto:commissionervacancy@south-wales.pnn.police.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Information 
For Chief 
Constable
Candidates

South Wales Police

Appendix B

Page 9



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S2

Contents

About South Wales Police 3

The Commissioner  6

Police and Crime Plan 2019/2023 11

The Police and Crime Panel 13

The Current Chief Constable  14 
and his Chief Officer Team

Governance Arrangements 22

Operational Structure 23

What we do 24

i. Mission, Vision & Values

ii. Our priorities

iii. Engagement with our communities

iv. Our technology

v. HMICFRS Assessments

Collaboration 32

Who we work with 33

Our Finances 35

Equalities 41

Further information for candidates 42

Role Profile

Person specification

Recruitment Process 48

Contacts 51

Page 10



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S3

About South 
Wales Police

South Wales Police provides a policing service to 
1.3 million people covering 42% of the country's 
population with around 43% of the total crime in Wales. 
South Wales Police is the busiest force in Wales in terms 
of crimes per 1000 population, the 7th most effective in 
England and Wales in terms of identifying suspects and 
the 4th most effective in taking action against suspects.

This places a high demand on resources within the Force 
and in 2018-19, the Force dealt with 201,949 emergency 
(999) calls, 501,754 non-emergency (101 calls), 
recorded 374,894 occurrences, and carried out 39,207 
arrests. The Force has an extensive understanding of 
the demands on its services. For example, we make on 
average 107 arrests, manage 69 assaults and deal with 
484 public safety welfare calls on a typical day. Policing 
in South Wales is delivered by 3,021 officers, 1,660 staff 
and 385 PCSOs, with a net revenue budget of £287.2M.

The Force area and its three Basic Command Units, span 
the seven unitary authority boundaries of Bridgend, 
Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Neath Port Talbot, Rhondda 
Cynon Taf, Swansea and the Vale of Glamorgan, with 
Headquarters situated in Bridgend.

The area includes 64 of the 100 most deprived 
communities in Wales (and indeed Europe). It is a diverse 
region, boasting urban, rural and coastal areas and 
featuring the two largest cities in Wales, Swansea and 
the capital city, Cardiff.

Famed for its strong sense of history, South Wales 
continues to expand in the business, leisure, and 
tourism areas and over the last 30 years has undergone 
significant change. Communities are more widespread, 
employment areas have moved, and more and more 
people are coming to South Wales, be it to set up 
home or as visitors to our capital city, our coast and our 
heritage sites.

Swansea is a vibrant city boasting a ferry port, a 
Championship football team and the Ospreys rugby 
team. The city is also home to Swansea University and 
Swansea Metropolitan University, which together have 
almost 20,000 students.

Cardiff is one of the fastest growing cities in Europe 
and attracts over 18 million visitors per year. The city is 
home to the National Assembly for Wales, the world-
renowned Principality Stadium, Cardiff International 

Swansea, Neath,  
Port Talbot BCU

Mid  
Glamorgan 

BCU

Cardiff And  
The Vale BCU

Page 11



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S4

Airport, Wales’ other top football team, Cardiff City, 
the Cardiff Blues rugby team, and the SWALEC cricket 
stadium hosting both Glamorgan and international 
cricket matches. The impact of these events on policing 
and the nature of Cardiff being the capital city of Wales 
bring its own funding issues, which are not recognised 
by the Westminster Government, unlike London                         
and Edinburgh.

The city is also home to Cardiff University and Cardiff 
Metropolitan University. The University of South Wales 
has campuses in Pontypridd, Cardiff as well as Newport 
and incorporates the Royal Welsh College of Music and 
Drama. There are over 80,000 students in a city which is 
also home to Wales’ most diverse communities.

Situated in the northernmost part of the force area, 
Merthyr Tydfil is the gateway to the Brecon Beacons and, 
over recent years, has seen a programme of regeneration 
that has provided new opportunities for business and 
tourism in the area.

The southern coastal border of South Wales covers 
the ports of Barry, Port Talbot and Swansea, along 
with seaside towns like Penarth and Llantwit Major, 
the Glamorgan Heritage Coast and the popular tourist 
destinations of Porthcawl, the Mumbles and the Gower, 
which has been designated an Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty.

Southern Wales is of major strategic importance with the 
road network (in particular the M4 and A465 Heads of 

the Valley road) good rail links and the sizeable market 
presenting a continuing risk that organised crime gangs 
from England and Europe will infiltrate the region.

The relative proximity to Bristol, and major cities such as 
London, Manchester, Liverpool and Birmingham, which 
have levels of gun crime and drug related violence and 
are now starting to impact on South Wales. This is an 
ever present reminder of the seriousness of the threat 
from organised crime. This emphasises that crime does 
not recognise national borders and administrative 
boundaries and stresses the importance of co-operation 
in fighting crime.

The presence of the Welsh Government requires a 
dedicated policing unit responsible for security and 
Cardiff, as the seat of Welsh Government, attracts 
increasing numbers of demonstrations and events 
relating to regional and national policy.

South Wales Police is the strategic force in Wales 
delivering not only a local service but also providing 
support for major national events outside the Force area. 
Whilst the force is proud of its ability to police major 
events, the demand and resource profile continues         
to grow.

The Force polices almost 650 events each year which 
require varying levels of police intervention in terms 
of planning and resources. In the past three years, the 
number of events policed by the Force has increased 
from 287 events in 2015 to 636 in 2018, which included 

A B O U T  S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E

Page 12



A B O U T  S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E

157 sporting events, 224 public military events, ten 
concerts, 139 community events, 64 protests and 
24 VIP events. Visits by protected persons, including 
the Royal Family, and public military events are also a               
regular occurrence.

The significant contribution made by South Wales 
Police at a national level has often been outstanding, for 
instance during the 2014 NATO conference, the 2014 
Commonwealth Games, the Olympics and Paralympics 
in 2012, and in 2019 when our officers were called upon 
to help out during the protests in London. In 2017 Cardiff 
hosted the UEFA Champions League, the largest single 
sporting event in the world. The successful policing of 
these events and the specialist support that South Wales 
Police has provided to incidents and investigations 
nationally and internationally has enhanced the Force’s 
reputation to a global audience.

South Wales Police is recognised as the lead regional 
force on Serious and Organised Crime and receives 
specific ring fenced funding for an all Wales Extremism 
and Counter Terrorism Unit (WECTU), and a Regional 
Organised Crime Unit (ROCU) which encompasses 
a Regional Intelligence Unit (RIU), a Regional Asset 
Recovery Team (RART) and has established through 
collaborative funding a Regional Task Force (RTF) along 
with a number of other initiatives to tackle cross border 
issues with other police forces in Wales and England.

South Wales Police is the second best performing force 
for positive outcomes violence with injury crimes in 
England & Wales. We are the third highest performing 
force for residential burglary and the fourth highest 
performing force for robbery. We have maintained a 
strong performance on outcomes for the most vulnerable 
victims in our community such as rape where we are the 
eighth highest performing force in the country.

5 S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S

Page 13



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S6

The 
Commissioner
Alun Michael was elected as the first Police and Crime 
Commissioner for South Wales in 2012. He had been the 
Labour & Co-operative Member of Parliament for Cardiff 
South and Penarth for 25 years from 1987, including 
time as Police Minister at the Home Office, Secretary of 
State for Wales and as First Minister (First Secretary) for 
Wales, stepping down to stand in the Police and Crime 
Commissioner Election in South Wales.

Alun Michael has spent all his working life in South 
Wales: On leaving University he worked as a reporter 
on the South Wales Echo for six years, and during that 
period he was branch secretary of the National Union    
of Journalists.

From 1972 he was a youth and community worker in 
Cardiff for 15 years. He developed innovative projects 
with a focus on young offenders and unemployed young 
people. Having become a Justice of the Peace in 1972, 
he chaired the Cardiff Juvenile Bench until being elected 
to Parliament in 1987. He also served as a City Councillor 
from 1973 to 1989, playing a leading role in planning, 
redevelopment and economic development. After a 
time as a Shadow Minister for Welsh Affairs, he served as 
deputy to Tony Blair and then Jack Straw at Home Affairs. 
Following the 1997 general election he became Deputy 
Home Secretary with responsibility for police, criminal 
justice, youth justice and the voluntary sector. In 1998 
he joined the Cabinet as Secretary of State for Wales, 
then being elected to the new National Assembly for 
Wales and becoming the First Secretary (First Minister) 
of Wales. After standing down from the Assembly, he 
became the first Minister of State for Rural Affairs and 

subsequently became Minister of State for Industry and 
the Regions.

After leaving Government in 2006, he came a leading 
member of the Justice Select Committee, playing a 
leading role in the Committee’s seminal report on 
“Justice Reinvestment”, and was also a leading member 
of the Welsh Affairs Select Committee. He took part 
in major inquiries into the changing landscape of 
policing, the city riots of 2011 and drugs policy nationally 
and internationally. He also chaired the UK Internet 
Governance Forum, moderated an international forum 
on the “rule of law online”, and chaired a number 
of major all-Party Groups such as PICTFOR (the 

Page 14



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S7

T H E  C O M M I S S I O N E R

Parliamentary Internet and Information 
Technology Forum), the All-Party Group for 
Corporate Governance, the All-Party Group 
for Somaliland and Somalia and the All-Party 
Group for Civil Society and Volunteering as 
well as being Deputy Chair of the All-Party 
Group on Policing.

He was a member of the expert delegation to 
examining gang-related crime, radicalisation 
and elected police chiefs in Los Angeles in 2011. 
He was a member of the joint committee of both 
Houses on detention of    terrorist suspects.

His political roots are in strengthening local 
communities. It was his experience of working 
with young offenders and unemployed young 
people in, Llanrumney, Llanedeyrn, Ely, Butetown 
and Grangetown that brought him into national 
politics. As an MP he supported local communities 
– for example playing a leading role in the 
successful four-year campaign to stop Cardiff 
County Council building on the precious “village 
green” known as Rumney Recreation Ground.

He has a proven track record on policing issues: As 
Deputy to the Shadow Home Secretary – first Tony 
Blair and then Jack Straw – he developed Labour’s 
detailed policies on Youth Justice, Policing, Crime 
Partnerships and the Voluntary Sector. In 1997, as 
Deputy Home Secretary, he steered the Crime and 
Disorder Act onto the Statute Book, leading to the 
establishment of local crime reduction partnerships, 
youth offending teams, the Youth Justice Board and 
Anti-Social Behaviour Orders. It has been described by 
the police as the best piece of criminal justice legislation 
in a generation.

He has made clear his ambition to “add value” by 
working closely with the Chief Constable, with the whole 
police team and with other partners across South Wales 
to reduce crime as well as fulfilling his responsibility to 
maintain an effective and efficient police service and to 
hold the Chief Constable to account.

The Commissioner plays a leading role in community 
safety and crime reduction in the force area. The formal 
duties of the Commissioner in law include:

• Set the local policing priorities, following consultation 
with the public and taking account of any national 
requirements from the Home Secretary

• Produce a Police and Crime Plan, outlining  
his priorities

• Scrutinise, support and challenge the performance of 
the force

• Secure the maintenance of an efficient and effective 
police force

• Set the annual police budget and council tax precept*

• Appoint* and, if necessary, dismiss the  
Chief Constable

• Promote and develop partnership working

• Publish an Annual Report and Statement of Accounts

• Attend meetings of the Police and Crime Panel

• Investigate complaints against the Chief Constable, 
and monitor all complaints against officers and staff

• Administer an Independent Custody  
Visiting Scheme

• Consult with and involve the public

• Collaborate with other forces and criminal  
justice agencies

(* subject to veto of the Police and Crime Panel. Since 2012 his 

proposals have been endorsed by the Panel each year)

As the Crime Commissioner he is responsible for the local 
police fund. He receives all government grants and police 
precept on council tax and determines the budget, in 
consultation with the Chief Constable.

Page 15



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S8

Emma Wools assumed the role of Deputy Police & 
Crime Commissioner on the 14th November 2016 and 
is seconded from the National Offender Management 
Service in Wales (NOMS). 

This appointment was ratified by the South Wales Police 
& Crime Panel on Tuesday 18th October 2016. 

He is supported by his own Chief Officer team:

Emma Wools  
Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner  

Emma has led multi agency teams, working in 
collaboration with a wide range of internal and external 
agencies, identifying and implementing opportunities 
for integrating services across the Criminal Justice System 
in Wales. 

Working for Probation since 2001, Emma began her 
leadership journey coordinating Integrated Offender 
Management (IOM) in Cardiff. She was instrumental 
in developing this beacon of good practice, which 
contributed hugely to the current partnership landscape 
in Wales and national strategy and policy. Business 
Development and IOM Cymru Programme Management 
roles followed, before her most recent leadership role 
as Head of Offender Service Integration role, the first 
leadership role within National Offender Management 
Service holding responsibilities across Public Sector 
Prisons, National Probation Service and partnerships.

Having worked in this area for the last 15 years Emma is 
viewed among colleagues as an ‘expert’ in integrated 
working and as a result inspires confidence in senior 
leaders across the partnership. Beyond influencing and 
enthusing others around NOMS vision and purpose. 

Page 16



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S9

T H E  C O M M I S S I O N E R

Within a very board remit Emma has had the lead 
for a number of critical areas of work across Wales.  
These include:

• Implementing and overseeing the first of its kind co-
commissioned substance misuse contract in Wales 
between prisons, probation and Police in South 
Wales which will ensure a joined up more efficient 
and effective provision of substance misuse services 
to offenders throughout the offender journey from 
April 2016.

• Ensuring all local IOM teams are adhering to the 
IOM Cymru Delivery Manual practice ensuring 
consistent good practice in prioritising the right 
cases, enhanced risk management and support and 
that service delivery can continue in a climate of 
reducing resources.

• Strategic lead for implementing a Whole System 
Approach to working with women who come into 
contact with the Criminal Justice System in Wales in 
recognition of their differing needs and diverting 
them away from the CJS and into community based 
support, wherever appropriate.

• Implementation of an action plan around 
information sharing practices across agencies 
including in relation to serious and organised crime 
groups (SOCGs) by the end of March 2016

A key contributor to the development and delivery 
of the Wales Reducing Re-offending Strategy, which 
has contributed to reduced crime and re-offending        
across Wales.

Lee Jones  
Chief Executive 

• Support the continued development and delivery of 
the Commissioner’s priorities and pledges

• Carry out the statutory duties and responsibilities 
of the Head of the paid service and the           
Monitoring Officer

• Oversee the financial planning, budgetary, 
resourcing and asset management aspects of the 
office of the Commissioner

• Drive implementation of the Commissioner’s core 
strategies and ensuring that effective governance 
arrangements are in place

• Ensure effective and efficient engagement with both 
internal and external partners and stakeholders

• Ensure effective engagement with the Chief 
Constable and all relevant force personnel and 
planning and managing the Commissioner’s 
business

• Represent the Commissioner at high level meetings

• Contribute to the efficient and effective delivery of 
the Police and Crime Plan

Page 17



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S10

T H E  C O M M I S S I O N E R

Peter Curran  
Chief Finance Officer (Treasurer)

Mark Brace  
Assistant Police and Crime Commissioner, 
Director of Strategy and Programmes)

• Provide financial advice to the Commissioner on all 
aspects of the activities of the South Wales Police, 
including the Commissioner’s own team, and 
financial aspects of the strategic planning and policy 
making process

• Ensure that the financial affairs of the Commissioner 
are properly administered and that the Financial 
Regulations are observed and kept up to date and 
providing a treasury management function

• Ensure regularity, propriety and Value for Money in 
the use of public funds

• Advise the Police and Crime Commissioner on the 
robustness of the budget and adequacy of financial 
reserves, and in respect of any consequential medium 
and long term implications of budgetary issues

• Ensure production of the statements of accounts of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner

• Advise, in consultation with the Chief of Staff, on the 
safeguarding of assets, including risk management 
and insurance

• Arrange for the determination and issue of the precept

• Responsible for developing strong and effective 
links with partner agencies across multiple strategic 
partnership landscapes, to ensure alignment 
between policy, priorities and programmes

• Work with senior leaders across the partnership 
spectrum to identify opportunities for effective 
delivery of public services

• Lead on the co-ordination of portfolio areas and 
programmes within the Commissioner’s team, 
to ensure interdependencies are managed 
effectively and the successful delivery of projects                      
and programmes.

• Lead on the review and development of the 
Police and Crime Plan to ensure it reflects the 
Commissioner’s priorities and objectives, and 
monitor progress in delivering priorities

• Work with other members of the Executive team 
to uphold the statutory responsibilities of the 
Commissioner in terms of scrutiny and monitoring 
activity across partnership activity

More details on the Commissioner and his team can be found via the link below:

www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk

Page 18

http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk


S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S11

Police And 
Crime Plan
The Police & Crime Plan 2019-2023 sets out the 
Commissioner’s priorities in support of the mission 
of Keeping South Wales safe and the vision of being 
the best at understanding and responding to our 
communities needs. The Plan was developed jointly 
by the Commissioner and Chief Constable and 
their respective leadership teams is based on the 
Commissioner’s fundamental principle of  

"being tough on crime and the 
causes of crime, tackling and 
preventing crime by promoting 
an evidenced based partnership 
approach to identify ‘what works’ 
and how he can add value."

The plan is available via this link: 

http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.
uk/en/your-commissioner/police-crime-
plan-2019-2023/

There are six priorities in the Police & Crime plan 
which are to:

1. Reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour 
to keep people safe and confident in their homes 
and communities

2. We will involve and empower our communities, 
working with partners in local government, health, 
fire and welsh government to deliver services that 
people need

3. We will work to protect the most vulnerable in our 
communities, understanding causes and taking 
prompt positive action as issues arise

4. We will work to make the local criminal justice 
system efficient and effective to meet the needs of 
victims and reduce re-offending

5. We will make our wider contribution to policing 
through the strategic policing requirement, 
including successfully policing major events

6. We will spend your money wisely and support our 
people to provide the best possible policing in   
your community

The most recent review of progress against the plan 
in the form of the Annual report can be found here: 

http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/
en/transparency/annual-reports/

Page 19

http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/en/your-commissioner/police-crime-plan-2019-2023/
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/en/your-commissioner/police-crime-plan-2019-2023/
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/en/your-commissioner/police-crime-plan-2019-2023/
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/en/transparency/annual-reports/
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/en/transparency/annual-reports/


S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S12

P O L I C E  A N D  C R I M E  P L A N

Well-Being Goals

We have welcomed the recognition from Welsh 
Government Ministers and the Future Generations 
Commissioner that our approach and the opportunity 
to drive activity through local community safety 
partnerships fits perfectly with the aims of the Future 
Generations Act to create safe, confident and         
resilient communities.

The Future Generations Well-Being Goals are  
to ensure a: 
 

• Prosperous Wales

• Resilient Wales

• More equal Wales

• Healthier Wales

• Wales of cohesive communities

• Wales of vibrant culture and  
thriving Welsh Language

• Globally responsible Wales

Page 20



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S13

The Police And 
Crime Panel
The Police and Crime Panel is responsible for reviewing 
and scrutinising the decisions of the Police and         
Crime Commissioner.

The Panel is made up of ten local Councillors, 
representing the seven local authorities in South Wales, 
along with two co-opted independent members.

The responsibilities of the Panel include:

• Make reports and recommendations about actions 
and/or decisions of the Commissioner;

• Scrutinise the draft Police and Crime Plan;

• Summon the Commissioner, and Commissioner’s 
staff, for public questioning;

• Scrutinise and potentially (subject to a two-thirds 
majority) veto the police budget and council           
tax precept;

• Scrutinise and potentially (subject to a two-
thirds majority) veto the appointment of the                    
Chief Constable;

• Appoint an Acting Police and Crime Commissioner 
from amongst the Commissioner's staff if he resigns, 
is disqualified from office, is incapacitated or              
is suspended;

• Hold confirmation hearing for the Commissioner's 
proposed Chief Executive, Chief Financial 
Officer and Deputy Police and Crime                  
Commissioner appointments;

• Deal with lower level complaints against the 
Commissioner. Serious allegations will be referred 
to the Independent Office for the Police Conduct 
(IOPC), formally the Independent Complaints 
Commission (IPCC).

The Panel is not there to scrutinise the performance 
of the force directly – that is the role of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner - but will scrutinise the actions 
and decisions of the Commissioner. However, both 
the Commissioner and the current Chief Constable 
believe that the engagement of the Panel’s members 
can make a significant and positive contribution to the 
work of the South Wales Police. With that in mind, as 
well as welcoming the Panel’s role in scrutiny, have gone 
beyond the statutory requirements by jointly providing 
full information to Panel members about the current 
policy and financial pressures against which the Budget 
and Police and Crime Plan are being developed.

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is responsible 
for the administration of the Police and Crime Panel. Full 
details of the work of the Panel and their Members are 
available via this link:

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-
committees/south-wales-police-and-crime-panel/

Page 21

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-committees/south-wales-police-and-crime-panel/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-committees/south-wales-police-and-crime-panel/


S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S14

The Current 
Chief Constable 
and his Chief 
Officer Team

Page 22



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S15

S E C T I O N  T I T L E

Matt Jukes QPM  
Chief Constable 

Matt Jukes was appointed Chief Constable of South 
Wales Police in January 2018.

Matt joined South Yorkshire Police in 1995 as a police 
constable on the streets of Sheffield, soon after being 
commended for his tenacity and courage in the arrest of 
a suspect following a post office robbery.

Between 1997 and 2006, Matt went on to work in 
a number of roles, principally as a detective. In his 
early CID career he was involved in operations to 
tackle violent drugs gangs and later specialised in                            
counter terrorism.

He worked for the forerunner of the National Counter 
Terrorism Policing network and represented United 
Kingdom policing at G8 meetings in the United States 
in 2004. Matt remains involved strategically in counter 
terrorism and has had a leading role in a number of high 
profile operations across England and Wales.

In 2006 Matt returned to local policing as a divisional 
Chief Superintendent in the former coalfields and 
industrial areas of South Yorkshire.

He joined South Wales Police as an Assistant Chief 
Constable in 2010. He led the latest phase of the force’s 
response to several miscarriage of justice cases from the 
1980s and 90s, including the infamous ‘Cardiff 3’ case. 

As well as overseeing electoral fraud investigations in 
the National Assembly, he had command of regional 
organised crime and counter terrorism units.

Matt was appointed Deputy Chief Constable (DCC) 
in August 2013. As DCC he had the task of leading a 
change programme to equip the force to manage a 
£50 million reduction in funding, at the same time as 
responding to huge operational challenges including 
the 2014 NATO Summit, 2015 Rugby World Cup and 
2017 UEFA Champions League Final. After this period 
of change, the force has remained focused on local 
policing and a rigorous programme of back-office reform 
has supported one of the smallest front-line reductions in 
the UK with South Wales Police was recently assessed as 
the most visible force in England and Wales.

Matt is a member of the Prince’s Trust Advisory Council in 
Wales and has a leading role in work with Public Health 
Wales on tackling Adverse Childhood Experiences. He 
leads on a number of portfolios for the National Police 
Chiefs’ Council, including Police Pay and Condition 
as well as the work on the recruitment, retention and 
wellbeing of investigators.

He retains a strong interest in wider issues of health 
and wellbeing in the service and is chair of Police Sport 
UK. As a keen sportsman himself, he has competed in 
running, triathlon and swimming events (and keeps 
promising the next charity match is definitely his last 
game of rugby).

Matt was awarded a Queens Police Medal in the New 
Year Honours List 2018.

Matt, a married father of two, was born in the Midlands 
and has called South Wales home since 2010.

Page 23



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S16

T H E  C U R R E N T  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  A N D  H I S  C H I E F  O F F I C E R  T E A M

Jeremy Vaughan  
Deputy Chief Constable 

Jeremy Vaughan was promoted to Deputy Chief 
Constable of South Wales Police in December 2019 
and has responsibility for the day to day running of 
the organisation, on behalf of the Chief Constable, 
and is responsible for realising the Chief Constable’s       
delivery plan.

Jeremy began his policing career in 1996 with North 
Wales Police. He served the communities of North Wales 
across a number of roles for twenty years, working up 
to the rank of Chief Superintendent, where he took 
responsibility for Local Policing Services.

In 2016 Jeremy transferred to South Wales Police 
as Assistant Chief Constable with responsibility for 
Specialist Operations, including Professional Standards, 
Criminal Justice, Operational Planning and the Public 
Service Centre. In December 2017 he took responsibility 
for the Territorial Policing portfolio including leading 
on Neighbourhood Policing. He remained as Head of 
this portfolio until he was promoted to Deputy Chief 
Constable in 2019.

In addition to his Force responsibilities, Jeremy is deputy 
chair of the UK Police Counter Corruption Advisory 

Group and chair of the South Wales Local Resilience 
Forum. He is the UK Police lead for Facial Matching 
(Identification), supporting the national development 
and use of facial recognition technology by the police 
forces of England and Wales.

Jeremy is the Welsh lead for gender equality and was 
recognised for his work in this area by the International 
Association of Women in Policing in 2019 with 
the HeForShe award. He is strategic lead for our 
Representative Workforce project which is focussed on 
attracting and retaining more members of our BAME 
communities and in 2019 was recognised with a Leading 
Wales Award – Leadership in Diversity and Inclusion.

A fluent Welsh speaker, Jeremy was appointed to the 
Gorsedd Cymru in 2019 for services to the Welsh 
language which reflects his work within South Wales 
Police in promoting the use of Welsh and improving the 
service the force provides to individuals within Welsh 
speaking communities.

Jeremy is married and has young three children. His 
interests away from policing include biking, rugby and 
keeping fit.

Page 24



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S17

Jenny Gilmer  
Assistant Chief Constable 

T H E  C U R R E N T  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  A N D  H I S  C H I E F  O F F I C E R  T E A M

Jenny Gilmer joined South Wales Police in June 2018 
as Assistant Chief Constable with responsibility for 
Operational Support Services.

ACC Gilmer previously served 19 years with British 
Transport Police in various roles in Scotland and London. 
Following promotion to Superintendent in 2015, she 
undertook roles in Operations, Crime and as a sub-
divisional Commander, leading large teams to ensure 
a safe and low crime environment for the millions of 
people who use the transport network in London and 
the South East every day. In October 2017, she was 
successful at the Senior Police National Assessment 
Centre and passed the Strategic Command Course in 
early 2018.

A highlight of Jenny’s career was a two-year secondment 
to the Metropolitan Police Service/ACPO Olympic 
Policing Co-ordination Team to assist in the preparation 
of the national safety and security operation for the 2012 
Olympic Games.

ACC Gilmer is a Gold Public Order Commander and a 
Strategic Firearms Commander.

In November 2019 she took responsibility for the 
Territorial Policing portfolio within South Wales 
Police, leading the teams which provide response, 
neighbourhood and investigative services to the 
communities of Cardiff and the Vale, Mid Glamorgan and 
Swansea, Neath, Port Talbot.

Within South Wales Police, she has portfolio 
responsibilities that include Criminal Justice, and is the 
NPCC lead for CCTV.

ACC Gilmer is passionate about staff development and is 
a fully trained coach and a mentor.

Page 25



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S18

David Thorne  
Assistant Chief Constable 

T H E  C U R R E N T  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  A N D  H I S  C H I E F  O F F I C E R  T E A M

David Thorne was appointed Assistant Chief Constable 
in South Wales Police in June 2020 and is responsible for 
the Specialist Crime portfolio.

David initially qualified as a teacher in 1993, teaching 
physics and outdoor education, both in the UK and 
abroad. He has also worked as a mountain leader and 
kayak instructor. 

David joined Devon & Cornwall Police in 1999. After 
his probationary period, he joined Exeter Criminal 
Investigation Department (CID). 

On promotion to Sergeant, he worked on response, 
in custody and then in child abuse investigation, 
both strategically and operationally. At this time, he 
completed his Master’s degree in Police Leadership and 
Management. As Inspector, he worked in Plymouth as 
a Critical Incident Manager prior to returning to crime 
investigation, as Detective Inspector for Torbay CID. In 
that capacity, he ran ‘street level up’ investigations to 
tackle the supply of illicit drugs and the associated harm.

On promotion to Chief Inspector, he returned to Public 
Protection where he oversaw complex safeguarding 
issues and operations. This experience forged his later 
involvement in the re-design of the force safeguarding 

approach where and the introduction of the Single 
Safeguarding Process and the Vulnerability Screening 
Tool (ViST).

In 2013, as Detective Chief Inspector [DCI] he moved to 
the Major Crime Investigation Team, where he achieved 
his goal of becoming an accredited homicide Senior 
Investigation Officer (SIO).

Latterly, he took up uniformed command roles, 
including overseeing policing in Plymouth as the local 
Commander, where he enjoyed tackling the challenges 
of policing a large urban area. He is also an accredited 
Strategic Firearms Commander and has spent time as 
a Temporary Assistant Chief Constable with Devon and 
Cornwall Police, in which role he had responsibility for 
Innovation, Contact and Demand. 

He has long had an affection for South Wales and, over 
the years, has spent much time here. 

David, a father of five, is a keen mountain biker and 
is delighted that South Wales is blessed with many 
world-class trails. He is looking forward to helping South 
Wales Police continue to provide a quality service to                  
our communities.

Page 26



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S19

Mark Travis  
Assistant Chief Constable 

T H E  C U R R E N T  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  A N D  H I S  C H I E F  O F F I C E R  T E A M

Mark Travis was appointed Assistant Chief Constable in 
South Wales Police in June 2020.

Mark joined Cheshire Police in 1998, having previously 
worked internationally in the private sector. Mark 
predominantly worked in proactive and public order 
policing, and established Cheshire police’s Automatic 
Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) team.

In 2004 he transferred to West Mercia Police, working 
in operational support roles including the dog section, 
roads policing, public order and specialist search units. 
Mark rose from the rank of Sergeant to Temporary 
Assistant Chief Constable during his time with              
West Mercia.

In his tenure he oversaw the modernising of the force’s 
IT capabilities, and delivered a number of change 
programmes which enhanced the force’s digital and 
agile working, as well as their capability in multi-agency 
partnership working.

He has served as the Head of Intelligence, and fulfilled 
the roles of Public Order and Firearms Commander, 
as well as having responsibility for local policing in 
Worcester during the 2012 floods.

Mark worked to improve the diversity of the force 
through mentoring and supporting people aspiring to 
promotion through a new career pathway.

Most recently Mark led a change programme in the 
dissolution of the strategic alliance between West Mercia 
Police and Warwickshire Police. This was followed by 
his promotion to Temporary Assistant Chief Constable 
in October 2019, where he had command of the force’s 
Protective Services portfolio.

Mark joined South Wales Police in 2020, as Assistant 
Chief Constable for the Operational Support portfolio.

Mark spent a lot of leisure time in South Wales prior to 
his appointment, and spends his free time walking in the 
countryside with his family.

Page 27



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S20

Mark Stevenson  
Director of People and  
Organisational Development 

T H E  C U R R E N T  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  A N D  H I S  C H I E F  O F F I C E R  T E A M

Mark joined South Wales Police in September 2018 as 
Director of People and Organisational Development 
having enjoyed a career spanning 18 years within 
the private sector. Working within the steel industry, 
Mark has more than 13 years’ experience as a senior 
leader working across several large, complex,                          
multi-site organisations.

Mark provides depth and breadth of experience across 
the HR agenda at both a strategic and pragmatic level. 
Having operated as an HR Business Partner for more 
than six years, Mark has also held lead roles across the 
UK within industrial relations, policy development, 
reward and organisational development. Prior to joining 
the Force Mark’s most recent position was Head of 
Capability, Talent and Training for Tata Steel UK.

In his role at South Wales Police, Mark provides 
leadership and strategic direction for workforce 
development and is responsible for people services 
functions including safety, occupational health services, 
human resources, employee engagement, organisational 
and learning development.

In addition to this, Mark is the Welsh lead for human 
resources and learning and development collaboration. 
He is also the National Police Chief’s Council (NPCC) 
lead for learning and development.

Mark is a Chartered Fellow of the CIPD and a member of 
the Industrial Law Society. Mark graduated with an MA in 
Geography, from the University of St Andrews in 1998, 
a Masters (Msc) degree in HR Management and more 
recently a Master’s Degree (LLM) in Employment Law  
and Practice.

Mark was born in Neath and was brought up in the 
Swansea Valley. He still lives in the South Wales area with 
his wife and two young children. Whilst Mark used to 
enjoy playing a lot of sport, today his spare time is taken 
up coaching a local junior football team and supporting 
local rugby and football teams.

Page 28



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S21

Umar Hussain MBE  
Chief Financial Officer 

T H E  C U R R E N T  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  A N D  H I S  C H I E F  O F F I C E R  T E A M

Umar became Director of Finance for South Wales Police 
in August 2007.

He has financial experience in both the public and 
private sector. This includes ten years’ experience 
with Gwent Police as Head of Finance, and three 
years with Lincolnshire Police as Director of Finance                          
and Administration.

Umar has a BA Honours in Accounting and Finance 
and trained as an accountant in London. He is also 
a fellow member of the Chartered Association of                 
Certified Accountants.

He provides strategic direction, control and advice 
on all financial matters within the force, responsible 
for Corporate Finance, Estates, Facilities, Fleet                      
and Procurement.

Umar chairs the Ystadau Cymru (Estates Wales) working 
group, member of the Home Office National Commercial 

Board and Chair of the All Wales Police Procurement 
Board. He is a Governor of the Cardiff Metropolitan 
University and Chair of their Audit Committee.

Umar is heavily engaged in Police Collaboration and is 
the regional police lead for Finance in Wales.

In 2003 Umar completed the Police Senior         
Command Course.

In 2015 Umar was recognised in the Queen’s Birthday 
Honours list and awarded an MBE.

In 2017 Umar completed the Major Projects        
Leadership Academy.

He is married with two grown up children.

Page 29



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S22

Our Governance 
Arrangements

In 2018 it was collectively agreed that new governance 
arrangements were required in order for the 
Commissioner’s duties to be effectively carried out and 
evidenced. The new arrangements better deliver the 
Commissioner’s statutory duties, as well as to provide 
effective scrutiny of South Wales Police and to more 
effectively enable monitoring of the implementation of 
the Commissioner’s priorities.

The diagram above illustrates the Force’s governance 
arrangements through which we will deliver our 
objectives, ensuring accountability, fairness and 
transparency. It provides us with a strong focus on 
understanding the requirements and drivers of policing 
South Wales and the need for all decisions to be 
traceable back to the Police and Crime Plan 2019 - 23.

The governance arrangements are designed to provide 
both leadership and appropriate accountability. The 
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 

created two separate “corporations soles” within each 
Police Force – the Chief Constable and the Police & 
Crime Commissioner. They have clear and separate 
roles and responsibilities which are interdependent 
and well understood in South Wales. The operational 
independence of the Chief Constable is protected in 
legislation, and he is responsible for the delivery of 
the priorities set out in the Commissioner’s Police & 
Crime Plan. The Commissioner is required to promote 
crime reduction and partnership working, protect the 
operational independence of police officers, be the 
voice of the public (especially victims) and hold the Chief 
Constable to account.

In South Wales the Commissioner and Chief Constable 
have agreed that, whilst being mindful of their respective 
roles and responsibilities, these and other requirements 
are best delivered through a partnership approach of 
mutual support and challenge. They have developed 
shared principles of co-operation, early intervention and 
prompt positive action.

Commissioner’s
Strategic Board

Commissioner’s
Estates Board

Chief Constable’s
Gold Group

Joint Audit
Committee

Resources
Board

Commissioner’s
Accountability and

Scrutiny Board

Police 
Accountability and
Legitimacy Board

Partnerships and
Commissioning

Board

Commissioner’s
Strategic

Leadership Group

Joint Independent
Ethics Committee

Page 30



23

Operational Structure
  
 
 

  
 

Page 21 of 50 
 
 

 

 

 

 

                                      

 

 

 

                        

                                                          

                                               

      

  

 

 

          

 

           

              

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

        

          Deputy Chief Constable  
 
 

 

Assistant Chief Constable 
Operational Support  

Chief Financial Officer 
 

 
 

Director of People & 
Organisational Development 

 
 

Corporate Services 
Chief Superintendent  

 

Executive Support 
Governance and Change 
Demand, Performance and 
Business Intelligence 
Assurance and Inspection 
Collaboration 
 
 

Assistant Chief Constable 
Territorial Policing 

 

Human Resources 
Assistant Director 

HR Service Support 
HR Operational Delivery  
Occupational Health Safety & 
Wellbeing                                                                                                                                                                              

Special Legal Case Work 
Assistant Director   

Special Legal Case Work 
Litigation 

Information Services 
Assistant Director  

 
Information Management 

Specialist Operations 
 Superintendent  

 

Joint Firearms 
Operational Support Unit 
Planning & Resilience Unit 
Analysis Unit 

Custody Services 
Central Ticket Office 
Criminal Justice Strategy & 
Ops 
 

 Communications 
Assistant Director  

 

Press Desk Headquarters 
Press Desk Basic Command Units 
Marketing & Publicity 
Media Production Unit 
Internal Communications 
Web Communications 

Learning & Development 
Services 

Assistant Director  

Organisational Directorate 
Operational Directorate 

 

Joint Legal Services 
Assistant Director  

Corporate 
Employment 
Operational Policing 
Litigation 
Governance 

Joint Scientific 
Investigation Unit 

Detective Superintendent  
 
 

Forensic Support 
Technical Services 
Forensic Operations 
Quality 
National Ballistics 
Intelligence 
Service 

Central Division 
Chief Superintendent  

Operations  
Communities & Partnership 

Eastern Division 
Chief Superintendent  

 
Operations  
Communities & Partnership 

Western Division 
Chief Superintendent  

Operations  
Communities & Partnership 

Northern Division 
Chief Superintendent  

 
Operations  
Communities & Partnership 

Specialist Crime 
Detective Chief Superintendent  

Covert Ops Management Unit 
Intelligence Directorate 
Public Protection Unit 
Major Crime 
FIOCU  

Justice Services 
Superintendent 

 

Assistant Chief Constable 
Specialist Crime  

Corporate Finance 
Assistant Director  

Financial Accounts 
Management Accounts 
Exchequer Services 

Estates 
Head of Estates  

Estates 
Facilities 
Printing 
Stores 

 

 
Joint Fleet 

Maintenance 
Head of Fleet  

 

 

Procurement 
Strategic Procurement Lead 

  
 

 Collaborative Procurement 

Professional 
Standards Dept. 

Chief Superintendent  
 

Complaints & Misconduct 
Anti-Corruption Unit 

PSC 
Superintendent  

Territorial Policing 
 

 

Digital Services Division 
Chief Superintendent 

 

 

Operational Support 
Services 

Chief Superintendent  

Protective Services 
Detective Chief Superintendent  

 
 

WECTU 
Detective Superintendent  

 

 
 
 TARIAN/ROCU 

Detective Superintendent  
 

Research & Development 
Transformation Services 
Operational and Business 
Systems 
Business Support 
 

South Wales Police & 
Bridgend County Borough 
Council Fleet 

Information Services 
Assistant Director 

 
Information and Communications 
Technology (ICT) Systems 
 

                                                 Chief Constable  
 
 

 

S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S

P
age 31



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S24

What  
We Do
Since 2010 the Force has faced operational, political, 
financial challenges, however we have also achieved 
some significant improvements in performance and are 
now recognised as one of the best performing forces 
in England and Wales. A strategic force – locally based 
and strategically placed with a clear line of sight to the 
mission, vision and values of the force that remain a focus 
for continuing to keep our communities at the centre of 
everything we do.

Some of the improvements achieved despite the 
Comprehensive Spending Review and accompanying 
austerity challenges include:

• The highest proportion in England and Wales of 
violence with injury offences with an action taken 
against a suspect. Also the highest for burglary, the 
second highest for robbery and the third highest for 
rape offences

• Mobile technology that has transformed the way 
we work. A sustainable collaboration in our Digital 
Services Division with Gwent Police assists both 
forces in delivery national and local digital policing 
programmes. We have rolled our laptops, smart 
phones and body worn cameras to all frontline 
officers and staff and are in the pioneering trial of the 
use of Automatic Facial Recognition technology.

• A modern vehicle fleet and anew workshop that is fit 
for purpose

• A beacon Public Service Centre with established 
partnerships with Welsh Ambulance Service and 
two Fire Authorities with a clinical Wales ambulance 
service desk. As well as a mental Health Triage 

team and social workers as part of our Early Action 
together Initiative

• Maintained assets in support of the national UK wide 
Strategic Policing Requirement

• Partnership working to tackle night time economy 
issues, including the Cardiff Alcohol Treatment 
Centre, the Swansea Help Point, the ‘know the 
score’ and ‘#DrinkLessEnjoyMore’ campaigns and 
Club Crew

• Working with partners on identifying adverse 
childhood experiences and how this can prevent 
crime and reduce demand on all partner agencies.

South Wales Police has a growing reputation for 
excellence, being seen as progressive and innovative 
and now recognised as one of the best performing 
forces, achieved against the backdrop of continued 
challenges of funding reductions.

Page 32



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S25

W H A T  W E  D O

i.  
Mission, vision  
and values

Our mission of Keeping South Wales Safe is integral to 
our day to day business.

Our vision is To be the best at understanding and 
responding to our communities’ needs.

Our operational priority is Protecting the vulnerable, 
preventing harm.

Our values are about the way we work together to 
achieve our vision and they underpin everything      
we do:

• We want to be a professional organisation with staff 
that are honest, take ownership and show respect.

• We want our staff to be proud of our organisation, of 
the communities they serve and of themselves.

• We want our organisation to be positive, to respond 
to people and their concerns, to be reliable and to 
be caring.

ii.  
Our Priorities

Our operational priority to Protect the vulnerable, 
prevent harm in our communities will be          
achieved through:

• Tackling crime on our streets to keep our 
communities safe

• Reducing non-crime demand to free up our 
resources to focus on policing

• Dealing with hidden harm to protect the most 
vulnerable in our communities

| @swpolice

CHIEF CONSTABLE’S DELIVERY PLAN 2018/21
MISSION KEEPING SOUTH WALES SAFE

VISION TO BE THE BEST AT UNDERSTANDING AND RESPONDING TO OUR COMMUNITIES’ NEEDS

OPERATIONAL PRIORITIES

Protecting the vulnerable, preventing harm in OUR COMMUNITIES

CRIME ON OUR STREETS
Tackle crime on our streets to keep our 

communities safe

HIDDEN HARM
Deal with hidden harm to protect the 

most vulnerable in our communities

NON CRIME DEMAND
Reduce non-crime demand to free up our 

resources to focus on policing

LISTENING & RESPONDING
Listening and responding to our peoples’ needs to 
improve the way we work together

SUPPORTIVE LEADERSHIP
Develop supportive leadership across 
the Force that encourages a resilient and 
motivated workforce

TRUST IN - BUREAUCRACY OUT
Trust-In, Bureaucracy Out to empower you to 
do your job

ORGANISATIONAL PRIORITIES

Understanding and responding to OUR PEOPLE

Page 33



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S26

The most significant focus has and will continue to be on 
our most vital asset – Our People.

Our organisational priority to understand and 
respond to our people will be achieved through:

1. Listening and responding to our peoples’ needs to 
improve the way we work together

2. Develop supportive leadership across the Force that 
encourages a resilient and motivated workforce

3. Trust-in, bureaucracy out to empower you to do 
your job

Through developing our people to deliver we will need 
an even more flexible and adaptive workforce to meet 
the changing environment that we are increasingly 
operating within. In striving for this our ambition must 
be to make the force better and stronger so it can make 
communities safer. Our new People Strategy aims to help 
people be the best they can be.

This will be enabled through;

• Understanding the skills we need to meet future 
demands; and conduct an audit of the skills and 
development needs of our people

• Developing entry routes and development 
programmes that give a more structured 
and diverse approach to talent acquisition, 
development, succession planning and Career 
Pathways - including Police NOW, Internal talent     
management scheme.

• Reducing the impact of long term sickness 
on individuals and the Force and promote 
wellbeing. Improving the support for individuals 
and line managers through additional 
investment in Occupational Health services and                             
case management.

W H A T  W E  D O

• Developing a new performance management 
system, supporting regular dialogue and supportive 
interventions. Integrating the systems into our 
HR processes for promotion, as well training and 
development opportunities.

• Developing an inclusive Leadership Programme 
that will focus on embedding the Competency          
Value Framework

• Introducing new and frequent opportunities 
for employee engagement, involvement                        
and participation

• Creating innovative and timely mechanisms for 
workforce recognition and reward

Page 34



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S27

In their recent PEEL reports the HMICFRS have noted 
the strong emphasis the Force places on the wellbeing 
and pastoral care of the workforce and the exceptional 
feeling of pride that staff have in working for South 
Wales Police. The HMICFRS also commented on the 
range of services provided to support the health and 
wellbeing of staff including trauma risk management, 
attendance management, counselling, support from 
a medical advisor and occupational health support. 
The HMICFRS also commented on the strong ethical 
culture which is understood and accepted by all staff as 
the way of working in South Wales Police, noting that 
treating people fairly and with respect is central to the           
force’s approach.

The most recent engagement survey in September was 
completed by 43% of the workforce and showed that 
staff were clear about our vision and values, as well as 
having clarity on their role in the Force. There was a 
large improvement in how supported they felt and their 
perception on procedural fairness had also improved 
over last 2 years. Whilst these were exception result, 
to continue to improve so the force has developed an 
action plan for three priority areas which are:

• Supportive leadership

• Feeling empowered to mage change

• Emotional energy/public service motivation

iii.  
Engagement with  
our communities

Communication, engagement and consultation are 
fundamental to the realisation of the vision of South 
Wales Police ‘to be the best at understanding and 
responding to our communities’ needs’. Developing 
and maintaining positive relationships is essential 
to the success of every aspect of policing; effective 
communication stems from interacting with our 

communities, listening to their views and acting upon 
them in a way that improves our service delivery. Our 
Communication, Engagement and Consultation strategy 
supports the delivery of our services to meet those 
needs, with the ultimate goal of improving service 
delivery, public confidence and victim satisfaction.

To deliver our Force vision we will work in partnership 
to communicate, engage and consult with our 
communities. Communication, engagement and 
consultation activity is undertaken at both a local and 
force level. The Communications and Media Team 
will co-ordinate this activity to ensure we provide 
a consistent message, share learning across the 
organisation and understand the end-to-end process that 
will facilitate changes to our service delivery and provide 
the ability to feedback to our communities. We will use 
an evidenced based approach to select the tools most 
appropriate to meet the needs of the target audience.

We will:

• Listen to what is important to our communities and 
respond to their needs

• Build confidence that South Wales is a safe place to 
live and work

• Work with the media and partners to keep our 
communities informed around the delivery of         
our priorities

• Develop communication, engagement and 
consultation tools and policies that support delivery 
of the Police & Crime Plan and the Chief Constable’s 
Delivery Plan

• Work with Senior Officers and the Police and Crime 
Commissioner to ensure that communication, 
engagement and consultation enables delivery

• Clearly define and understand the purpose of all 
consultation, engagement and consultation activity

W H A T  W E  D O

Page 35



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S28

• Ensure all activity is easily accessible and 
understood by all our communities

• Target our methods and tailor our tools to meet the 
needs of different audiences

• Remove barriers that limit access for some of our 
diverse communities

• Be focused on making a difference

• Use jargon free, common language

• Ensure consultation, engagement and consultation 
activity is transparent and facilitate scrutiny

iv.  
Our technology

South Wales Police has long recognised technology 
as an enabler of policing. For over 10 years we have 
invested time, effort and resources in ensuring that our 
technology is fit for purpose and meets modern policing 
requirements. This means for us it is integrated, available 
and reduces the bureaucracy for officers and staff.

This positive approach has led to both national and 
international recognition and South Wales Police is seen 
as a leading force in the development of technology and 
has been cited as a beacon force by Sir Tom Winsor.

Underpinned by our in-house ICT support department, at 
the heart of our approach is the Digital Services Division, 
where South Wales Police, in collaboration with Gwent 
Police, have developed a number of transformation 
projects that change how we police our communities 
with the effective and proportionate use of technology.

W H A T  W E  D O

The NICHE Records Management System has been 
embedded in Force for over ten years and we continue 
to actively develop its capabilities. It has allowed the 
Force to effectively manage incidents from the initial call 
to the court result and beyond. NICHE has also allowed 
us to develop a mobile data capability providing officers 
with information and system access to information at 
point of need. South Wales is seen as a leader within the 
NICHE community both nationally and internationally. 
This continues to provide the Force with both leverage 
and influence within the expanding NICHE community. 
South Wales led in the development of the shared, 
regional, model of delivery for NICHE when Gwent 
Police were introduced into a single instance of the 
system – effectively removing the operational border 
between the two forces and providing front line staff with 
greater access to information from both Forces.

Our telematics system, IR3+, provides live time tracking 
of vehicles and people providing a complete picture of 
where officers, PCSO’s and vehicles are at any time. The 
system enables a task not ask operating environment by 
directing the closest and most appropriate resource to 
the call for service. This technology has improved police 
officer visibility by 20%, PCSO visibility by 30%, reduced 
vehicle establishment by 20% and improved response 
times for both grade one and grade two calls for service 
and delivered £3M of cashable savings.

FIRMS, a further example of a system hosted by 
South Wales for both South Wales and Gwent, is our 
Fully Integrated Resource Management System and 
this integration with mobile data gives us a unique 
insight into delivering a policing service that is more 
efficient, effective and productive. This encompasses 
our rostering, training, finance, procurement and                   
HR systems.

The Force continues to invest in technology allowing 
the Force and our partners, to share data and create a 
new relationship with the public to enhance the policing 
service to meet their needs.

Page 36



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S29

We continue to invest significantly in providing officers 
and staff with the tools they need to undertake their 
tasks without being drawn back to police premises. 
All frontline staff and officers have been issued with 
Smartphones (now in our third generation of devices) 
with Police Officers also being loaded with a bespoke 
police app called iPatrol. IPatrol interfaces to local and 
national systems that includes: PNC, Niche, Control 
Works (our current Command and Control system co-
developed by the Force with Capita) and Warrants - as 
well as an electronic version of the pocket notebook - to 
provide a fully interactive remote working capability. In 
addition, all officers have been issued with a Windows 10 
laptop device capable of accessing Force ICT systems as 
well as operating standalone.

In collaboration with Dyfed Powys Police, Axon-Taser 
we provided front line officers Body Worn Cameras, 
supporting hardware and Evidence.com (Microsoft 
Azure Cloud hosted) licenses.

The Force’s aim is to deploy a fully integrated suite 
of technological solutions that will allow us to have 
a single picture of police resources and demand at 
any moment in time; with officers and staff having the 
information and systems at point of need. We are aiming 
towards a capability where we can track and record 
both demand and activity linked to financial systems 
to understand the cost of activity in real time. This will 

W H A T  W E  D O

allow us to understand the nature of demand in terms 
of types, frequency, location and time of incidents and 
understand the skill set and mix of resources to respond 
to the demand most effectively. This will also enable us 
to schedule resources in anticipation of demand and to 
develop a resource profile of the organisation to more 
closely match the demand and risk appetite.

South Wales Police & Gwent Police are committed 
to delivering a digital change culture throughout 
policing. By investing in new technology and providing 
the workforce with the skills and support better use 
technology we hope to improve the services we offer   
our communities.

v.  
HMICFRS 
Assessments

The 2018/19 PEEL Assessment for the Force is              
as follows:

• The extent to which South Wales Police is effective 
at keeping people safe and reducing crime                 
is GOOD.

• The extent to which South Wales Police is efficient 
at keeping people safe and reducing crime                 
is GOOD.

• The extent to which South Wales Police is 
legitimate at keeping people safe and reducing 
crime is GOOD.

Effectiveness 

The Force was assessed as being good at preventing and 
investigating crime. Prevention being at the core of the 
force’s approach to reducing crime and keeping people 
safe. The force recognises the importance of working 
closely with communities. Officers and staff understand 
the importance of treating people with fairness and 

Page 37



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S30

respect, and have a strong understanding of the threats 
facing its communities.

The inspectors stated that the force is good at 
understanding and identifying vulnerability. Officers 
and staff are aware of the importance of identifying 
and handling vulnerability appropriately. Protecting 
vulnerable people was recognised as a clear priority for 
the force.

Efficiency 

South Wales Police is good at operating efficiently and 
sustainably, and have a good understanding of demand 
to flexi resources in-line with that demand.

The Force is assessed as having good plans in place to 
improve the services provided to the public. Several 
significant change programmes, from neighbourhood 

W H A T  W E  D O

policing to the extension of mobile technology 
have improved the Force’s capabilities. 
The inspectorate concluded that the force 
is good at planning for the future, applying 
demand software to understand hidden and       
emerging demand.

South Wales Police has a comprehensive 
medium-term financial plan, but this plan will not 
ensure a balanced budget through to 2023. The 
force will need to focus on value for money over 
the next four years if it is to sustain and improve 
operational effectiveness.

Legitimacy 

The inspection showed that South Wales Police 

treats both the public and its workforce fairly. 
The force recognises the importance of working 

closely with communities, and both officers and staff 
understand the importance of treating people with 
fairness and respect.

The force is good at using stop and search powers, 
training its workforce on the ethical use of stop and 
search tactics. Officers understand the need to apply 
these powers lawfully and ethically. The force is good at 
developing and maintaining an ethical culture and has 
clear processes for promoting ethical decision making.

However, the force needs to improve the extent to 
which it understands the use of force. It would benefit 
from analysing its data more effectively, to increase its 
understanding of how officers and staff use force. It 
also needs to give all officers feedback about their use             
of force.

The force is good at treating its workforce fairly, and 
workforce wellbeing is a clear priority for its leaders. 
The inspectorate stated that force is good at identifying 
and managing corruption risks and is developing an 
overarching control strategy in line with the authorised 
professional practice for counter-corruption.

Page 38



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S31

Crime Data integrity 

The HMICFRS visited South Wales in June 2017 as part 
of their rolling programme of unannounced crime data 
integrity inspections where they assessed the force         
as GOOD.

The report notes that the force lice has made concerted 
efforts to improve crime-recording accuracy since 
HMICFRS’ 2014 Crime Data Integrity inspection report. 
Importantly, the HMICFRS found a commitment to ethical 
crime recording that is victim-focused and free from 
performance pressures of any kind.

The report notes that the Force:

• Records nearly all reports of crime reported directly 
to its public protection teams;

• Achieves high levels of recording accuracy for 
reported sexual offences;

• Records most reports of crime within 24 hours of the 
report, as required by the crime-recording rules;

W H A T  W E  D O

• Makes good decisions when considering whether 
or not to cancel a recorded crime;

• Has implemented all of the recommendations set 
out in our 2014 report; and

• Has made good progress against a national action 
plan developed to improve crime recording by 
police forces.

The HMICFRS have noted that the force could do 
more to ensure that it records all violent crime, public 
order crime and reported crimes of rape, ensuring that 
all crime recording decisions are taken at the point                
of recording.

South Wales Police is the second best performing force 
for positive outcomes violence with injury crimes in 
England & Wales. We are the third highest performing 
force for residential burglary and the fourth highest 
performing force for robbery. We have maintained a 
strong performance on outcomes for the most vulnerable 
victims in our community such as rape where we are the 
eighth highest performing force in the country.

Page 39



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S32

Collaboration

The alliance between the Welsh forces provides the 
foundation for the establishment of the current All Wales 
Collaborative Programme. The Programme supports 
the agreed All Wales Policing Group vision - “Working 
together for a future that is safe, strong and confident”. 
Aiming to identify and implement opportunities for 
convergence – standardising policies, working practices 
and operating models between the four forces.

The Programme is managed by the All Wales 
Collaboration Board which allows better management of 
demands from national change projects and enables the 
co-ordination of approach across the four forces.

The focus of activity now is on an alignment of all 
operational and back-office business processes, in a 
prioritised methodology across all four forces, over an 
agreed timescale by 2025.

All collaborative projects are subject to stage reviews 
and post implementation reviews and stakeholder 
representation on the All Wales Collaboration Board 
ensures independence and advice, and guidance 
to project leads throughout the whole of a project’s 
lifecycle. The All Wales Policing Group, made up 
of the four Police and Crime Commissioners and 
Chief Constables provides overarching scrutiny to                        
the programme.

The six projects overseen by the Programme        
Board are:

• National Enabling Programme

• Single Online Home

• National Law Enforcement Database

• Emergency Services Mobile                  
Communication Programme

• National Transforming Forensics Programme

• Recruitment and Training Project.

Further information on the All Wales Collaboration 
Programme is available from T/ACC Nigel Harrison via 
Nigel.Harrison@nthwales.pnn.police.uk

Page 40

mailto:Nigel.Harrison%40nthwales.pnn.police.uk?subject=


S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S33

Who we 
work with

i. 
Our Partners

The Chief Constable and Police & Crime Commissioner 
both understand that partnership working and 
collaboration can play a key part in improving service 
provision, dealing with demand more effectively and 
achieving cost savings.

Tackling crime and disorder and making communities 
feel safer is not just a role for the police.

Most of the services that affect crime and re-offending 
levels are delivered by organisations such as local 
authorities, the fire and rescue service, young people’s 
services, probation trust and the health service.

So a strong partnership approach must be central to 
policing – and this is something the Police and Crime 
Commissioner believes in. His priorities are based on the 
following principle:

‘To be tough on crime and the causes of crime, tackling 
and preventing crime by promoting an evidence-based, 
partnership approach to identify “what works” and how I 
can add value.’

The Commissioner is working closely with the 
following to help tackle the priorities:

• Partners in Local Government and                          
Welsh Government

• Partners in other public services, particularly           
the NHS

• Victims groups and voluntary and                 
community organisations

• The business community and other                
interested parties

The Commissioner has responsibilities wider than 
those relating to the police force, including the:

• Delivery of community safety and crime reduction

• Ability to bring together community safety 
partnerships at force level

Page 41



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S34

W H O  W E  W O R K  W I T H

• Issuing of crime and disorder reduction grants in the 
South Wales area

• Duty to ensure that collaboration agreements 
deliver better value for money or effectiveness for 
the police

• Enhancement of the delivery of criminal justice in 
the area.

The introduction of two Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Hubs has improved our ability to protect some of the 
most vulnerable members of our communities through 
the co-location of police, health, probation, education 
and social services and this has been recognised as good 
practice by the HMIC. We are seeking to develop similar 
partnership approaches in other parts of the Force area.

The recent HMICFRS PEEL Spotlight Report ‘The Hard 
Yards’ is a welcome endorsement of the way we have 
worked in recent years.

It recognises that cooperation, or collaboration 
requires good planning, clear objectives and a shared 
set of objectives and is not a magic wand. So it is very 
satisfying that the report states that the way we have 
worked together as four Commissioners and four Chief 
Constables in Wales has been highly effective.

It also recognises the benefits from the way we have 
managed our meetings so that leadership by Chief 
Constables and Commissioners are complementary and 
support each other. This has not happened by accident, 
and while this report is specifically about police-to-police 
collaboration, it is connected to the way in which we 
have sought to work with both devolved and non-
devolved bodies and agencies that work across Wales 
in order to develop deliver the best possible criminal 
justice system for the public we serve. The full report can 
be found here:

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/
publications/the-hard-yards-police-to-police-
collaboration/

The Force and Commissioner’s Team are also driving 
forward new and innovative ways of working 
with our partners on reducing and preventing                       
crime, including:

• IRIS (Identification and Referral to Improve Safety) 
which trains GPs and practice staff to identify 
and refer domestic abuse victims to appropriate 
services. This is the first project of its kind in Wales 
which provides care pathways for victims of 
domestic abuse. Health professionals have been 
recruited in each health board area to improve 
identification and referral across the health service.

• Delivery of training on honour based violence, 
forced marriage and female genital mutilation by 
partner/third sector agencies.

• Working with partners and young people who are at 
risk of child sexual exploitation.

• Working with partners in relation to the reduction 
of domestic abuse crimes, reducing the harm to 
victims and reducing the number of repeat victims.

• Reducing violent/alcohol related crime, involving 
Public Health Wales, local authorities, Welsh Rugby 
Union, universities & licensed premises.

• Working with the Probation Service in relation to 
offender management.

• ACEs (Adverse Childhood Experiences) funded by 
the Home Office Innovation Fund and the Police 
and Crime Commissioner, the two year project was 
established as the first of its kind where an ACE 
informed public health approach is applied with 
the police to address vulnerability and risk through  
early action.

Page 42

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/the-hard-yards-police-to-police-collabo
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/the-hard-yards-police-to-police-collabo
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/the-hard-yards-police-to-police-collabo


S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S35

Our 
Finances
The Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales 
is required to prepare the following, which he does in 
full consultation with the Chief Constable:

• A Police and Crime Plan that reflects the 
Commissioner’s priorities and is developed after 
public consultation and after consideration of 
the resources available to him as well as having 
regard to the requirements of the Strategic Policing 
Requirement which is set by the Home Secretary.

• Risk Management Strategy

• A Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(Financial Strategy)

• South Wales Police Treasury Management Strategy

• Asset Management Strategy

• Capital Programme

• Annual Revenue Budget and Value for Money Plan

In preparing the Annual Budget specific consideration 
has been given to the resources needed to meet the 
priorities set out in the Police and Crime Plan.

The latest Financial Strategy is to 2024 and takes account 
of the additional resource assessment as it is vital to have 
the capacity to meet the challenge while also needing 
significant savings and cuts elsewhere to balance 
the budget year on year. The 2020/21 financial year 
represents the tenth consecutive year of reductions or no 
increase in grant for South Wales Police. The additional 
funding to support the Police Officer Uplift Programme 
(PUP) funds additional officer numbers but not existing 
budget pressures. The Police and Crime Commissioner, 
in agreement with the Police and Crime Panel in January 
2020, set a Revenue Budget of £308.6M and a Capital 
Programme of £48.5M for the financial year 2020/21.

The year-end position is expected to be broadly 
breakeven against a consolidated net revenue 
budget of £287.2M, after transfers have been made 
to the various reserves (£2.34M). The provisional 
outturn and proposed transfer to reserves are shown 
in the table on the next page:

Page 43



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S36

O U R  F I N A N C E S

Looking forward, the Government are about to 
undertake a Comprehensive Spending Review, for three 
years from 2021/22 to 2022/24. Both the Association 
of Police & Crime Commissioners and the National Police 

Chiefs Council made comprehensive submissions to the 
Home Office, highlighting the key issues to include in the 
submission to the Treasury.

Given this analysis on the national economic position 
and the continued national budget deficit the medium 
term financial strategy ass umes a continued flat cash 

settlement for policing with real terms cuts a reality for 
the foreseeable future.

Cash Changes Central in Government Funding To Police Forces

1st April 2019 to  
31st March 2020

Annual  
Budget £M

Full Year  
Spend £M

Carry Forward/
Transfer to 
Reserves £M

Full Year 
Variance (Over) / 
Under £M

Police Officer Pay  
and Pensioans

149.11 146.75 0.00 2.36

Poilce Staff Pay 60.21 59.38 0.00 0.83

Devolved Budgets 7.52 8.60 0.07 (1.15)

Force/Contingency 
Budgets

19.45 19.79 0.00 (0.34)

Centralised Budgets 12.62 13.04 0.00 (0.42)

Externally Funded 
Budgets

1.49 2.10 0.00 (0.61)

Collaborative Budgets 17.41 16.86 0.24 0.31

Central Budgets 14.39 13.49 1.87 (0.97)

Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner

5.00 4.85 0.15 0.00

Total 287.20 284.86 2.34 0.00

Page 44



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S37

O U R  F I N A N C E S

The salient financial challenges, which were 
explained and quantified to the Home Office before 
the Spending Review submission include:

Apprenticeship Levy 

The introduction of the new Policing Education 
Qualifications Framework has created a funding 
inequality between Wales and England. Whilst all 
forces in Wales pay the apprenticeship levy of 0.5% of 
payroll costs (£2M per annum, currently but this will 
rise as more Police Officers are recruited under the 
Uplift programme), we do not get access to funds for 
the police constable degree apprenticeships as Forces 
do in England. This was resolved between Welsh 
Government and the Home Office in 2018/19, and the 
Home Office paid £1M in 2019/20 at the end of the year, 
and committed to providing a further £1M in 2020/21. 
However, the total levy payments plus running costs are 
forecast to be £5M in 2020/21, and after allowing for 
the Home Office contribution, there will still be a £4M 
deficit across the four Forces. In the absence of increased 
funding, the annual deficits will grow in line with the 
increases in Police Officer numbers.

Protecting Baseline Budgets 

Whilst the Government has pledged to restore Police 
Officer numbers to approximate the pre-austerity levels 
and make the initial salaries funding available, there 
is no guarantee that funding will be made available 
for inflation and pay awards for existing staff. These, 
together with other unavoidable cost pressures, amount 
to £12M per annum for South Wales Police, and this will 
increase as staff numbers increase under Uplift. Neither 
has there been any guarantee from the Government to 
fund future salary increases for the new Officers.

Capital City Funding 

Unlike the other capital cities in the UK, the Police 
formula funding does not include an allowance for 
Cardiff. To illustrate, the Home Office is funding the 
Metropolitan Police to the tune of £185M in 2020/21, 
plus the City of London Police which is receiving £4.8M, 
specifically for policing London as a capital city. This is 
the case for Edinburgh also. Our analysis shows that the 
additional costs associated with policing Cardiff as a 
capital city are approximately £4M per annum.

Pensions Grant 

There is a significant black hole in the Police Pension 
Scheme. It is an unfunded ‘pay as you go’ scheme, the 
deficit on which is partly funded by the Home Office in 
baseline allocations and part by a Treasury grant. The 
grant element received by South Wales Police is £3.2M. 
Since this amount is not baselined into core allocations, 
there remains uncertainty year-on-year that it will 
continue to be provided.

Continuation of Existing 
National Programmes 

The Government has ceased to operate the Police 
Transformation Fund (PTF). This was an important 
strategic funding pot and there are a number of projects 
that are in progress and have historically been funded 
by the PTF. It is essential that these programmes receive 
the funding they require to take them to completion. The 
most significant financially is the Emergency Services 
Network, but there are key preventative programmes 
whose continued funding is at risk because of           
this decision.

Expectations of Further 
Efficiency Savings & 
Productivity Gains 

It would appear that the Treasury will expect further 
efficiency savings and productivity gains to be made 
over the period of the Spending Review as a condition of 
future funding settlements. South Wales Police has made 
almost £60M of cumulative savings over the past eight 
years, and with Police Officer numbers now protected 
with Operation Uplift, there are limited areas from which 
to achieve further efficiency savings. Further savings from 
collaboration will be the focus of exercise, if required by 
the Home Office and Treasury.

Page 45



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S38

O U R  F I N A N C E S

Other issues, whose outcomes are uncertain at 
present, but could have an impact upon Police 
finances in 2021/22 and beyond, include:

Capital Funding 

Capital funding from the Home Office has been reduced 
year-on-year. In 2020/21, South Wales Police receives 
just £300K in funding, meaning that the majority 
capital expenditure needs to be financed through a 
combination of revenue, capital receipts, borrowing or 
the capital reserve.

Following the completion of the 2018/19 Capital 
Programme, which saw extensive investment in 
technology through the innovative Fusion Programme 
and extensive site clearance and enabling works at Police 
Headquarters in readiness for the construction of the 
new Police Learning Centre, capital reserves will stand at 
£11M and are expected to be fully utilised by the end of 
2021/22.

It is important to note that majority of the Programme is 
funded through borrowing in respect of estates elements 
and a contribution by Gwent Police and Dyfed Powys 
Police in relation to a replace firearms training facility. 
This is scheme remains subject to detailed cost and 
funding proposals across three forces and the financial 
costs within the Programme are estimates only at           
this stage.

Financing our future capital programme remains a key 
risk to South Wales Police.

National Economic Context 

The implications of the COVID-19 pandemic cannot 
be known with any degree of certainty. The impact 
will hit the public finances hard and the UK’s debt is 
now worth more than its economy. Looking ahead the 
fragility of the national budget remains a key risk. The 
prospect of continued contraction in public spending 
is a very realistic prospect. Whilst the Government 
remains committed to funding the additional 20,000 
new Officers by March 2023, year on year real term cuts 
still have to be anticipated. In addition the impact of 
the above budget cuts and reductions in the funding of 
public sector partners in the National Health Service and 
Local Government as well as the wider Criminal Justice 
family compounds the pressures on policing resources.

Given the record of economic projections to date it is 
highly likely that austerity measures will continue beyond 
2024. Whilst this extends beyond the period of the 
current Financial Strategy, the planning assumptions 
need to reflect the predicted longer term contraction in 
central government funding for policing.

Local Economic Context 

The funding for South Wales Police is a combination of 
central grants and local police precept. The proportion 
of funding from police precept varies across England and 
Wales from less than 14% to over 54% of the total police 
budget. South Wales Police has one of the lowest police 
precepts in Wales and its proportion of local funding as a 
percentage of total funding is 40%.

The police precept which is the one area of local 
flexibility is also anticipated to be affected by the 
economic consequences of COVID-19. The Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government is seeking 
to mitigate this consequence across England with the 
inherent difficulty of different regions being impacted 
differently. Wales will need a separate solution.

Page 46



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S39

A modelling exercise has recently been undertaken and 
the WLGA has surveyed the Unitary Authorities in Wales 
who are anticipating a significant reduction in the council 
tax collection rates of between 0.7% and 2.6%.

Using the current year’s Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, the impact falls into three categories for 
South Wales Police:

• The anticipated tax base growth will not happen. 
The impact on income could be up to £4.1M.

• The collection rate deficits will result in a lower 
tax base and the impact of this depending on the 
reduction is between £2.8M and £10.6M, using the 
WLGA data.

• The amount of yield on precept increases will 
reduce depending upon the collection deficits and 
police precept increases.

O U R  F I N A N C E S

South Wales Police does not get the level of funding 
that it would receive if the funding formula was applied 
as intended. The amount of funding that South Wales 
Police has lost through non-application of the formula is 
now around £100.4M (£8.8M per annum equivalent to 
176 Police Officer or more than 300 Police Community 
Support Officer posts).

The combination of inflation, additional unavoidable 
cost pressures and essential Vulnerability Gap 
investment increases the funding gap by £12M per 
annum. As illustrated below:

Page 47



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S40

Value for Money (“cuts”) and 
Financial Management 

South Wales Police has already delivered cash savings 
of £58M and whilst further savings are incrementally 
harder the 2020/21 Value For Money Plan has identified 
a further £1.25M to be delivered in the financial year 
taking total cash savings achieved and required to 
£59.25M.

The Commissioner and the Chief Constable have agreed 
the Mission (Keeping South Wales Safe) and the Vision 
(being the best at understanding and responding to the 
needs of our communities) and the Commissioner has 
established an effective governance process to secure 
continuous improvements in service delivery and sound 
financial management.

The Commissioner and the Chief Constable are 
independently assessed on the delivery of value 
for money by both Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary and the Wales Audit Office. Both 
bodies have provided positive assurances on financial 
management and value for money including the 
improvements in operational delivery.

The change programme implemented by the Chief 
Constable has been fundamental in delivering 
the £59.25M cash releasing savings delivered 
to 2020 whilst at the same time improving                         
operational performance

This Financial Strategy must provide the necessary 
level of supporting information to enable an effective 
discharge of this responsibility.

Precept Considerations 

The economic and operational context and the risks 
facing South Wales Police require careful consideration 
on the level of police precept to ensure that adequate 
resources are available to maintain an effective policing 
service over the medium term. The outcome of the 
2020 Comprehensive Spending Review will be critical 
in terms of understanding the Government’s funding 
commitment to 2024, which will directly impact upon 
precept considerations.

O U R  F I N A N C E S

For 2020/21, the precept considerations acknowledged 
that there was a risk that future settlements failed to fully 
recognise the cost pressures on both the existing, and 
growing, cost base as a result of additional officers and 
support staff being recruited under Operation Uplift, 
and so there was a recognised and managed residual 
risk going into 2021/22. After weighing up all issues, 
risks and fairness to the taxpayers of South Wales, a 5.9% 
increase in Precept for 2020/21 was proposed and 
approved by the Police & Crime Panel.

Funding inequities affecting 
South Wales Police 

Previous Medium Term Financial Strategies have 
cited a number of areas where South Wales Police is 
significantly disadvantaged in terms of funding and these 
issues continue to remain unresolved due mainly to the 
failure to address the funding formula anomalies. We 
are committed to seeking a resolution to these issues 
and will continue to raise them at the highest levels to        
seek redress.

We have consistently improved our performance and 
delivered an effective policing service within a reducing 
resource envelope. However the combination of a 
decade of cuts to police funding with new policing 
demands and the added burden of funding inequities 
presents a real challenge to the delivery of frontline 
services which we are inevitably forced to rationalise   
and prioritise.

Given the unique aspects of Capital City policing any 
allocation through a generic formula is fraught with 
difficulty (and the current Home Office Practice is direct 
funding). It is therefore time that our Welsh Capital City 
Requirements are recognised and addressed outside 
discussions on a new formula which we understand is 
probably deferred to 2022 at the earliest.

Statement of accounts can be found here: 

http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/
media/1368/1819-statement-chief-constable-agw-
disclaimer.pdf

Page 48

http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/media/1368/1819-statement-chief-constable-agw-disclaimer.pd
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/media/1368/1819-statement-chief-constable-agw-disclaimer.pd
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/media/1368/1819-statement-chief-constable-agw-disclaimer.pd


S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S41

Equalities

South Wales Police is subject to the General Equality 
Duty of the Equality Act 2010 which requires public 
bodies, in the exercise of their functions, to have 
regard to the need to:

• Eliminate discrimination, harassment  
and victimisation;

• Advance equality of opportunity between people 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
people who do not share it;

• Foster good relations between people who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and those who do 
not share it.

The Force is also bound by the UK Specific Duties of the 
Equality Act. This means that every year South Wales 
Police must publish information to demonstrate how it 
is complying with the General Equality Duty, and it must 
prepare and publish specific and measurable equality 
objectives at least every four years.

The Chief Constable and the Police & Crime 
Commissioner are committed to ensuring that policing is 
delivered fairly and without prejudice or discrimination 
and this applies to all ‘protected characteristics’ under 
the Equality Act 2010, including age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. Welsh language requirements are also 
important, so that a positive approach is taken to valuing 
and promoting the language.

Both the Chief Constable and the Police & Crime 
Commissioner have drafted a Joint Equality Plan 2019 
– 2022 which sets out their determination to ensure 
that South Wales Police delivers on our key equality 
objectives. This document sets out plans to ensure that 
equality is given the focus it needs and that progress is 
continually monitored.

In addition the Chief Constable and the Police & Crime 
Commissioner have commissioned thematic reviews into 
increasing the diversity of our workforce and a review of 
female recruitment, progression and retention in South 
Wales Police.

We serve a diverse population, with 6.6% of people in 
the 2011 Census identifying themselves as belonging 
to an ethnic minority. This varies widely across our force 
area, with around 16% from a black and minority ethnic 
background in Cardiff compared to roughly 2% from a 
black and minority ethnic background in Merthyr Tydfil. 
A total of 23% of our population identify themselves as 
having a long-term impairment or illness that affects their 
day to day activities, 54% identify themselves as being 
of Christian religion, while 35% identify themselves as 
having no religion. Small numbers identify as Buddhist, 
Hindu, Jewish, Muslim and Sikh. There is no publically 
available data on sexual orientation or transgender 
identity but it is estimated that around 6% of the general 
population are gay, lesbian or bisexual, with less than 6% 
identifying as transgender.

The Force has recently invested into 3 additional posts 
to take forward Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. In 
response to the recent Black Lives Matters campaign 
the force has developed an innovative programme to 
raise awareness across the whole workforce of the issues 
being faced by our Black and Asian communities.

Page 49



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S42

Further 
information 
for candidates

Page 50



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S43

F U R T H E R  I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C A N D I D A T E S

Role Profile -  
Chief Constable

Role Purpose 

To lead policing in South Wales and to work with the 
Commissioner to set the direction for South Wales 
Police and to create a vision in which officers, staff 
and the public have confidence. Responsible for 
contributing to national policing by providing an 
effective and efficient policing service and in doing so 
fulfil all statutory and legal obligations of the office of 
Chief Constable.

Primary Accountabilities

• To set the organisational and operational strategy 
through which South Wales Police will deliver the 
requirements of the Police and Crime Plan which 
in South Wales is a joint endeavour between the 
Commissioner and Chief Constable.

• To have regard to the Strategic Policing 
Requirement when exercising and planning policing 
functions in respect of the Force’s national and 
international policing responsibilities.

• To provide effective leadership of the organisation, 
communicating a clear direction and setting the 
values, co-operative ethos, tone and standards for 
the organisation.

• To lead the Executive Team, ensuring they are 
developed and motivated to deliver the best 
possible policing service in line with the Police 
and Crime Plan and the terms of the Manual                       
of Governance.

• To lead professional development within the 
organisation, creating a culture where all staff are 
empowered and motivated to perform to their full 
potential and achieve organisational goals.

• To have overall responsibility for the day to day 
financial management of the force within the 
framework of the agreed budget as issued by the 
Police and Crime Commissioner.

• To lead organisational development and change, 
to ensure enhanced productivity, value for money 
and continuous improvement, making efficient use         
of resources.

• To recognise the primary accountabilities in law to 
the Police and Crime Commissioner and to provide 
professional policing advice to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner whilst protecting the principle of 
operational independence.

• To develop and maintain effective relationships with 
local, regional and national partners, understanding 
the broader operating context of the Police Service.

• To represent the organisation at local, regional 
and national level, developing public confidence             
in policing.

• To play an active role in decision making on national 
standards and common approaches as part of Chief 
Constables' Council to develop the Police Service 
further in protecting the public from the most 
serious and strategic threats.

• To maintain operational oversight of the policing 
response to critical incidents through an 
understanding of the strategic issues that surround 
operational policing.

• To appropriately discharge all operational, financial 
and employment duties of a Chief Constable.

• To set and personally promote high standards of 
professional conduct and champion the Code of 
Ethics in the organisation's working practice and in 
the delivery of policing services.

Page 51



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S44

F U R T H E R  I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C A N D I D A T E S

• Successful completion of Strategic  
Command Course

• Have held rank above ACC/Commander in a UK 
Police Force (or have held one of the designated 
roles in if appointed from overseas)

• Appropriate Educational Qualification

• Wide ranging operational policing  
experience (Gold)

• Authorising Officer Training

• A demonstrable track record of exceptional 
experience of working at a strategic level, including 
the operational command of police officers at senior 
leadership level

• Experience of working with and successful 
engagement in partnerships in the public, private 
and voluntary sectors

• Experience of implementing an effective 
performance management framework

• Experience of overseeing change and 
organisational development

Behaviours 

Applicants are required to demonstrate their leadership 
qualities, operational/technical policing knowledge and 
understanding of standards of behaviour required for 
high office as well as demonstrating appropriate levels of 
education, qualifications and experience.

Applicants may find it useful to have regard to the 
Competency and Values Framework for Policing 
but this should not be regarded as a straitjacket. 
Applicants should show how they will demonstrate 
the following in their leadership role:

• Being resolute, compassionate and committed

• Taking an analytic, evidence-based approach

• Developing intelligent, creative and  
informed policing

• Promoting individual initiative and responsibility at 
every level

• Promoting co-operation and collaboration  
with partners

• Being innovative, open-minded and informed by 
“what works”

• Being emotionally aware

• Taking ownership, delivering, supporting 
and inspiring

• Providing inclusive, enabling and  
visionary leadership

• Education, Qualifications and Experience

Page 52



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S45

Person Specification

Experience 

The successful candidate will be able to demonstrate:

• Relevant chief officer experience, including the 
operational command of police officers at a       
senior level;

• A commitment to community and customer focus at 
a senior leadership level;

• Drive and ambition, with the ability to deliver high 
standards and levels of performance;

• Strong internal and external leadership, in 
particular effective communication and successful 
engagement in partnerships in the public, private 
and voluntary sectors;

• Innovation and broad-thinking, with experience 
of overseeing change and organisational 
development; and

• Understanding and commitment to the delivery of 
policing services in the context of public services    
in Wales.

It is essential for the successful candidate to be able 
to communicate through the Welsh Language to level 
2 Standard within 2 years of taking up the post. The 
successful candidate should demonstrate sensitivity and 
understanding of the Welsh context, including language 
and culture.

F U R T H E R  I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C A N D I D A T E S

Legal requirements 

Applicants must have been a serving constable with a UK 
police force or policing organisation or must have served 
in an approved overseas police force at an approved 
rank. A list of the approved forces and ranks are listed in 
appendix A.

The courses or assessment centres that must be 
satisfactorily completed are:

 a)  The Senior Police National Assessment  
  Centre; and

 b)  The Strategic Command Course.

Personal qualities 

The post holder will be able to demonstrate the 
following personal qualities in line with the Policing 
Professional Framework (PPF):

Serving the public 

Promotes the ethos and values of public service, 
based on an understanding of the public in South 
Wales and sensitivity to their interests;

• Ensures that all staff understand the expectations, 
changing needs and concerns of different 
communities, and strive to address them;

• Builds public confidence by actively engaging with 
communities, agencies and strategic stakeholders, 
developing effective partnerships at local, Welsh 
and UK levels; and

• Understands partners' perspectives and priorities, 
working co-operatively with them to develop future 
public services within budget constraints, and 
deliver the best possible overall service to the public 
of South Wales.

Page 53



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S46

Professionalism 

Acts with integrity, in line with the values and ethical 
standards of the Police Service;

• Delivers on promises, demonstrating personal 
commitment, energy and drive to get things done;

• Defines and reinforces standards, demonstrating 
these personally and fostering a culture of personal 
responsibility throughout the organisation;

• Listens well, asks for and acts on feedback, 
continuing to learn and adapt to new circumstances;

• Takes responsibility for making tough or unpopular 
decisions, demonstrating moral courage and 
resilience in difficult situations; and

• Remains calm and professional under pressure and 
in conditions of uncertainty; openly acknowledges 
shortcomings in service and commits to putting          
them right.

Leading strategic change 

Thinks in the long term, establishing a clear and 
simple vision based on the values of the Police 
Service, and a clear direction for the organisation;

• Instigates and delivers structural and cultural 
change, thinking beyond the constraints of current 
ways of working, and is prepared to make radical 
change when required; and Identifies better ways 
to deliver value for money services that meet both 
local and national needs, encouraging creativity 
and innovation within our organisation and              
partner organisations.

F U R T H E R  I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C A N D I D A T E S

Leading the workforce 

Inspires people to meet challenging organisational 
goals, creating and maintaining the momentum  
for change;

• Gives direction and states expectations clearly;

• Effectively communicates; talks positively about 
policing and what it can achieve, building pride  
and self-esteem;

• Creates enthusiasm and commitment throughout 
the organisation by rewarding good performance, 
and giving recognition and praise; and

• Promotes learning and development within the 
organisation giving honest and constructive 
feedback to colleagues and investing time in 
coaching and mentoring staff.

Managing performance 

Translates the vision into action by establishing a 
clear strategy and ensuring appropriate structures 
are in place to deliver it;

• Delegates responsibilities appropriately and 
empowers people to make decisions, holding them 
to account for delivery;

• Sets ambitious but achievable timescales and 
deliverables, and monitors progress to ensure 
strategic objectives are met;

• Promotes positive action and identifies and removes 
blockages to performance, managing the workforce 
and resources to deliver maximum value for     
money and

• Recognises and highlights good practice yet 
confronts and addresses underperformance.

Page 54



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S47

Decision making 

Assimilates complex information quickly, weighing 
up alternatives and making sound, timely decisions;

• Gathers and considers all relevant available 
information, seeking out and listening to advice 
from specialists;

• Asks incisive questions to test facts and 
assumptions, and gain a full understanding of        
the situation;

• Identifies key issues clearly, and the relationship 
between different options at a local, Welsh and 
UK level, assessing the costs, risks and benefits of   
each; and

• Makes clear, proportionate and justifiable decisions 
and is prepared to make the ultimate decision, even 
in times of ambiguity and uncertainty.

F U R T H E R  I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C A N D I D A T E S

Working with others 

Builds effective collaborative working relationships 
through clear communication;

• Maintains visibility and ensures communication 
processes work effectively throughout the 
organisation and with external bodies;

• Consults widely and involves people in decision-
making, speaking in a way they understand and can 
engage with;

• Treats people with respect and dignity regardless 
of their background or circumstances, promoting 
equality and the elimination of discrimination;

• Treats people as individuals, showing tact, empathy 
and compassion;

• Negotiates effectively with local, Welsh and 
UK bodies, representing the interests of the             
police service;

• Influences the development of social policy in 
Wales through the establishment of good working 
relations with the Welsh Government;

• Sells ideas convincingly, setting out benefits of a 
particular approach, and striving to reach mutually 
beneficial solutions; and

• Expresses own views positively and constructively, 
fully committing to team decisions.

Page 55



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S48

Recruitment
Process
In line with the South Wales Police policies, we 
guarantee to interview all applicants with a disability who 
meet the minimum requirements of the Role Profile.

No applications will be accepted after the closing date.

The recruitment process will be as follows:

CLOSING DATE APPLICATIONS –  
12:00 Wednesday 14th October

Applications must be submitted using the application 
form provided. An electronic version of the application 
form and the equality monitoring form is available at: 
commissionervacancy@south-wales.pnn.police.uk

Applications must disclose any outstanding criminal 
investigations or disciplinary proceedings being carried 
out in relation to their conduct. In addition, applicants 
are required to disclose previous disciplinary offences 
that have not been expunged.

As the initial responsibility for assessing promotion 
to rank of Assistant Chief Constable rests with the 
candidate’s Chief Constable, candidates are asked to 
advise their Chief Constable that an application is being 
made for this post.

ASSESSMENT DATE – 
Interactive Panels week commencing: 

19th October 2020

INTERVIEW DATE –  
Week commencing: 

19th October 2020

Page 56

mailto:commissionervacancy%40south-wales.pnn.police.uk?subject=


S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S49

R E C R U I T M E N T  P R O C E S S

Health Check 

The successful candidate will be required to complete a 
Medical Questionnaire and undertake a health check by 
the Force Medical Advisor.

Benefits And Conditions 
The appointment will be in accordance with Police 
Regulations. An appointment cannot be confirmed until 
the successful candidate is certified medically fit by 
the Force Medical Advisor and necessary security and 
financial checks are complete.

Salary  
Chief Constable pay scales apply and is paid on a 
monthly basis, on the last working day of the month        
in arrears.

Working Location 
The majority of work will be carried out from South Wales 
Police Headquarters, based in Bridgend. However, the 
nature of the work will also require travel throughout 
South Wales and nationally. This may on occasions 
include periods of time spend working at other locations 
around the country.

To ensure operational and on-call availability the post 
holder will be expected to take up residence in the 
force area within 6 months of appointment. Although 
it is recognised that this need not necessarily be the 
permanent family home.

Working Hours 
Working hours will not be less than 40 hours per week 
and such as are needed to fulfil the requirements of 
the post, subject to the requirements of the Working 
Time Directive. However, the post holder will have 
responsibility for representing the service and meeting 
statutory and operational requirements, often at short 
notice, which may require working additional hours from 
time to time. As the post holder will hold Chief Officer 
responsibilities, there is a requirement to be contactable 
24 hours per day. This role will require evening and 
weekend working including attending meetings and 
events during these times and attending major incidents 
and other operational events at short notice.

Working Duty 
The post holder must devote the whole of their time to 
duties of the office of Chief Constable and will not hold 
any other appointment or engage in other work except 
with the prior written consent of the Commissioner.

Allowances And Benefits 

The following allowances will apply:

1. Any protected housing / rent entitlement

2. A Chief Officer Car Scheme is available, subject to 
taxation. If post holders do not wish to participate in 
this scheme appropriate mileage rates will be paid 
in accordance with Police Regulations.

3. All IT requirements as necessary e.g. mobile phone, 
mobile devices, laptop etc. (private phone calls 
must be paid for).

4. Corporate Credit Card and Force Fuel Card (all 
personal expenditure and mileage, including home 
to work travel, must be repaid).

5. Payment of the public liability insurance 
element of the Chief Police Officers Staff                         
Association subscription.

Relocation 
A successful candidate moving into the South Wales 
police area will be entitled to take advantage of the 
Force’s Chief Officer Relocation Package, details             
on request.

Performance and Development Review  
The post holder will be subject to annual appraisal 
which will incorporate a review of the post holder’s 
performance against the competencies and 
accountabilities for the role.

Equal Opportunities 
South Wales Police is committed to equal opportunities 
for existing and potential members of staff.

Welsh Language Scheme 
South Wales Police has a rich, diverse culture and 
the Welsh Language is an important part of it. The 
Commissioner’s team and South Wales Police adopted 
the new Welsh Language Standards with effect from 
1 April 2017. The Standards provide members of the 
public the right to use Welsh in their dealings with      

Page 57



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S50

South Wales Police and also gives staff and officers the 
right to use the Welsh Language at work.

The successful applicant will be required to have at least 
a level 2 standard to communicate in the Welsh language 
or achieve it within two years of taking up the post.

Notice Period  
The period of notice is 3 calendar months in writing by 
either side.

South Wales Police is acutely aware of the need to 
treat all candidates in an equal and impartial manner 
throughout the duration of the recruitment process. 
This will include ensuring all candidates have access to 
identical information in equal measure.

Candidates will not be given access to any restricted 
information or any information which could affect the 
operational effectiveness of South Wales Police. That 
said, the Force wish to be as helpful as possible to 
candidates and provide as much information within the 
parameters permitted.

R E C R U I T M E N T  P R O C E S S

Page 58



S O U T H  W A L E S  P O L I C E   •   I N F O R M A T I O N  F O R  C H I E F  C O N S T A B L E  C A N D I D A T E S51

Contacts

South Wales Police 
www.south-wales.police.uk/ 

National Police Chiefs’ Council 
http://www.npcc.police.uk/

Details of local crime: 
www.police.uk

Independent Office for Police Conduct (IOPC) 
www.policeconduct.gov.uk

Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales  
www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/

Association of Police and Crime Commissioners 
www.apccs.police.uk

Home Office
www.homeoffice.gov.uk

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire 
and Rescue Services (HMICFRS)
http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/

Vale of Glamorgan Council
www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/

Bridgend County Borough Council
www.bridgend.gov.uk/

Cardiff Council
www.cardiff.gov.uk/

City and County of Swansea
www.swansea.gov.uk/

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council
www.rctcbc.gov.uk/

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
www.merthyr.gov.uk/

Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council
www.npt.gov.uk/

Welsh Government
www.gov.wales/

Other Useful Websites

Page 59

http://www.south-wales.police.uk/ 
http://www.npcc.police.uk/
http://www.police.uk
http://www.policeconduct.gov.uk
http://www.southwalescommissioner.org.uk/
http://www.apccs.police.uk
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk
http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/
http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/
http://www.swansea.gov.uk/
http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/
http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/
http://www.npt.gov.uk/
http://www.gov.wales/


So
ut

h
 W

al
es

 P
ol

ic
e

Page 60



Ethics Panel

Date and time Panel Member

21st October Mike Mcnamee

8:45-10:45am Mike Lewis

Harriet Pierpoint

Duncan Lewis

Jacqueline Gantley

Partners 

Panel Member

Ruth Marks

Date and time Keith Towler

21st October Sara Kirkpatrick

11:00 - 13:00pm Rocio Cifuentes

Nicola Mahoney

Chief Executives and Leaders

Panel Member

Chief Executives

Phil Roberts

Mark Shephard

Date and time Ellis Cooper

21st October Sara McGill

4:30-6:30pm Chris Bradshaw

Steven Phillips

Leaders

Cllr Huw David

Cllr Huw Thomas

Interview Panel

Chief Constable Recruitment 2020

P
age 61



Date and time Panel Member

23rd October Gill Lewis

9:00-4:00pm Alun Michael

Emma Wools

Tracey Cooper

Reg Kilpatrick

Naomi Alleyne

Paul Orders

P
age 62



Appendix D 

1 
 

 
 
 
 

Assessment and selection for the post of  
 

Chief Constable for South Wales Police  
 

 
   

 

 
 

Independent Member’s Report 
 

October 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 63



Appendix D 

2 
 

 
Contents 
 

 
1. Introduction                                                                                                  3                    

                                                                            
2. Independent Member’s role                                                        3                 

 
3. Independent Member remit in the appointment process                              3                                  

 
4. Appointments panel                                                                                      4 

 
5. Stakeholder panels                                                                                       5

               
6. Panel briefing / training                                                                                 6  

             
7. Role profile                                                                                                    6

               
8. Advert                                                                                                            6

               
9. Assessment design                                                                                       7

              
10. Assessment delivery                                                                                     8

                
11. Assessment decision making                                                                        8

            
12. Conclusions                                                                                                   8

                          
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendices 
 

A  Independent Member role profile                                                               10 
                    
B  Independent Member pen picture                 11
        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



Appendix D 

3 
 

 
1. Introduction 

 
Home Office Circular 13/2018 outlines that it is for the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) to decide how they wish to run their appointment process for a 
Chief Constable. It is for them to decide at the end of the process which candidate 
they wish to appoint, subject to confirmation by the Police and Crime Panel. 
However, they should involve an Independent Member in the assessment, 
shortlisting and interviewing of candidates. 
 
This is the Independent Member’s report relating to the appointment process for the 
next Chief Constable for South Wales. The process is the responsibility of Police and 
Crime Commissioner Alun Michael. 
 
The aim of this report is to provide an assessment of the extent to which the 
appointment process in South Wales has been conducted fairly, openly and based 
on merit.  It also details the extent to which the panel fulfilled their responsibility to 
challenge and test the candidates’ suitability against the requirements of the role. 
 
 

2. Independent Member’s role 
 
The role of the Independent Member was laid out in Home Office Circular 20/2012 
and updated in Home Office Circular 13/2018.  It is described more fully in the 
Guidance for Chief Officer Appointments produced and maintained by the College of 
Policing, in consultation with a wide range of current and former stakeholder groups. 
Those consulted in its preparation have included Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary, the Association of Police and Crime Commissioners, the National 
Police Chiefs Council, Senior Police Officers Association, Police Superintendents 
Association and the Home Office. It was produced under the direction of the Sub-
group on Chief Officer Appointments of the Police Advisory Board for England and 
Wales. 
 
I am an Independent Member from the list originally created by the College of 
Policing in 2012 and maintained by them until 2018. In order to become a member of 
this list I was required to undergo a fair, open and merit-based selection process.  
This process focussed on my suitability as someone skilled in assessment and 
capable of quality assuring assessment processes.  I have undergone an induction to 
this role from the College of Policing, for whom I have also worked as an External 
Assessor at senior selection centres.  
 
Further details of my role as Independent Member are set out in the role profile in 
Appendix A and my background is provided in more detail in Appendix B. 
 
 

3. Independent Member remit in the Chief Constable appointment process  
 
I was invited by the South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) to become 
involved in this appointment from the advertising stage onwards.  Arrangements were 
made sufficiently well in advance, with my appointment finalised in September 2020, 
and selection exercises arranged for 21 and 23 October 2020. The application pack 
with the role requirements and person specification was assembled by the PCC. It 
adhered closely to the Guidance for Chief Officer Appointments. The PCC is to be 
commended for involving me from the early stages in the process.  

Page 65



Appendix D 

4 
 

Elsewhere in the country, the Independent Member is sometimes only involved in the 
final selection interviews, but in this instance staff were open to including me from 
early on. My independent advice was welcomed and respected. I had telephone and 
email contact to arrange the practical details and to discuss any queries as they 
arose. For example, the Chief Executive of the PCC discussed with me the makeup 
of the interview questions, to get an appropriate balance across the competency 
areas. We also discussed getting a balance of questions based upon future 
scenarios, supported by probing to verify past achievements. This evidenced an 
open attitude, with PPC team being keen to base the selection on merit, using an 
evidenced based approach.  
 
A relatively small pool of candidates is not uncommon at this level. In an attempt to 
maximise the size of the pool and to demonstrate openness to all who might apply, 
all forces in the UK were contacted and the eligible group of officers in each force 
were alerted to the existence of the vacancy through the advertisement process. The 
PCC and his staff actively demonstrated from the outset that in the interests of public 
accountability, they were committed to adhering to the principles of fairness, 
openness and merit.  
 
 

4. Appointments panel 
 
The appointments panel role is set out in the Guidance for Chief Officer 
Appointments.  This outlines that the panel should be convened by the PCC before 
any stage of the appointment process takes place. There should be no conflicts of 
interest between panel members and the applicant pool.  
 
The Guidance states that consideration may be given to involving panel members in 
helping to define the requirements of the role, as well as in shortlisting and selection. 
It explains that the purpose of the panel is to challenge and test if the candidates 
meet the necessary requirements to perform the role, and that the PCC should select 
a panel capable of discharging this responsibility.  The PCC should also ensure that 
panel members are diverse, suitably experienced and competent in selection 
practices. They must adhere to the principles of merit, fairness and openness. All 
members should be provided with a copy of this Guidance to ensure they are familiar 
with its content prior to the appointment process.  In addition, it is the PCC’s 
responsibility to ensure that appropriate briefing/assessor training is undertaken by 
all panel members.  It is suggested that a panel of approximately five members is 
convened, but this is at the discretion of the PCC. 
 
Alun Michael, PCC for South Wales, actively followed this advice. It was 
acknowledged that this was the most important decision he would make as PCC and 
the Guidance was taken seriously. Within this appointment process the panel had 
been agreed at the outset as consisting of the following members: 

 Alun Michael, PCC for South Wales 

 Emma Wools, Deputy PCC 

 Naomi Alleyne, Director of Equalities and Social Justice, Welsh Local 
Government Association 

 Paul Orders, Chief Executive, Cardiff City Council 

 Reg Kilpatrick, Executive Director for Local Government, Welsh Government 

 Tracey Cooper, Chief Executive, Public Health Wales 

 Myself, Gill Lewis, Independent Member  
 
The panel included an appropriate range of stakeholders from the public sector. Its 

Page 66



Appendix D 

5 
 

composition and role mirrored the importance placed on partnership working in the 
locality. Also in attendance as Monitoring Officer was Lee Jones, Chief Executive of 
the PCC. 

  

An individual with professional policing knowledge is not a compulsory component of 
an appointment panel but, when a Policing Adviser is assigned, the role is defined in 
the Guidance for Chief Officer Appointments. It includes providing policing advice on 
the development and design of the appointment process; advising how each 
candidate’s experience and skills fit policing-specific requirements during shortlisting 
and selection procedures; playing an active role in assessing performances in 
exercises and interviews; and supporting the PCC during decision making.  
 
For this appointment, the extensive experience of the PCC was considered sufficient 
to meet the panel’s needs. 
 
All panel members were identified to be part of the panel by the PCC. Their senior 
operational experience was sufficient to allow them to challenge and test others at 
executive level. All were given a briefing and access to a copy of the Guidance for 
Chief Officer Appointments, ensuring they were well informed on their duties in this 
appointments process.  
 
Five of the proposed panel members were white, two (based on observation) were of 
black and or minority ethnic origin. There were no declared disabilities. The 
population of Wales is approximately 95% white British / white Other. In view of the 
profile of the population, it was considered that diversity needs were adequately met 
on this occasion. There was also a good gender mix.   
 
 

The role of the Chief Executive (as defined in College of Policing guidance) is to 
support the PCC by ensuring the appointment procedure is properly conducted in line 
with the requirements set out in legislation, meeting the principles of fairness, 
openness and selection on merit. In addition, the Chief Executive is required to 
ensure appropriate monitoring of the procedures.  
 
The Chief Executive and PCC team in South Wales was represented by Lee Jones, 
Chief Executive. He and his team worked consistently to maintain standards, 
collaborating openly and helpfully with the Independent Member and other panel 
members throughout the planning and administration of the appointment process.  
 
 

5. Stakeholder panels 
 

Three advisory stakeholder panels were used in this process, two days before the 
formal selection panel. An external panel of stakeholders was selected from partner 
agencies from the third sector, with an emphasis on equalities and diversity. The 
Ethics Committee formed a second panel.  Chief Executives and local authority 
leaders formed a third. Each panel used the same discussion points and timings for 
all candidates, to ensure consistency and hence fairness. They were also attended 
by Lee Jones, Chief Executive, to monitor their delivery. Feedback was reported to 
the selection panel on the final day, but only after the panel had themselves 
assessed the candidates, in order not to adversely affect their scoring or to create 
bias.  
 
It was agreed in advance that the opinions of the forums would not be scored 
numerically, as members participating had not been trained in this and were not 

Page 67



Appendix D 

6 
 

making measurable judgements linked to the competency areas. They were to be 
advisory only, to ensure that all final assessments and decisions were merit based.  
 
The order in which candidates were seen by all four panels was varied throughout 
the process. This was further evidence of how the process sought to be scrupulously 
fair to all.  
 
 

6. Panel briefing / training  
 

The Office of the PCC followed College of Policing guidance in offering all members 
of the selection panel a written briefing prior to the interview exercises. This set out 
the College of Policing guidance, helping to ensure the process would be 
transparent, objective and based on merit, a summary of this was sent to panel 
members in advance of the interview. At a pre-meeting on the final interview day, the 
optional use of supplementary probing interview questions was discussed, to ensure 
that all competency areas would be fully tested. This illustrated a willingness to make 
sure that the selection would be made on a clear evidence base, again 
demonstrating openness and transparency in the process.   
 
There was discussion in advance around what the minimum acceptable scores might 
be for each competency, to permit an appointment. The PCC’s approach in 
establishing agreed standards and expectations in advance with all panel members 
was to ensure decisions would be based on evidence and merit, avoiding bias. 
 
I was able to clarify that consensus decision making by the panel was the preferred 
approach, but in the event of inability to achieve this, the PCC would be considered 
as first among equals on the panel. He would make the final recommendation on the 
preferred candidate, subject to ratification by the Police and Crime Panel.  
 
The PCC and some panel members had met some of the candidates previously in a 
professional capacity. In order to ensure fairness of the process, it was noted that 
that judgements would be based only on the evidence available in front of the panel, 
not on prior knowledge. This was to ensure impartiality, consistency and fairness.  
 
Briefing of the panel prior to the interview was well planned. This helped the panel 
equip themselves for their role in being able to challenge and test candidates fairly.  
 
 

7. Role profile  
 
The selection panel was briefed on the role profile as advertised. This reflected the 
national guidance, including primary accountabilities, the competencies required and 
the terms and conditions offered. In discussion with the PCC prior to the selection 
exercises, it was emphasised that a focus on early intervention and prevention was 
seen as essential, together with action to improve the diversity of the workforce at all 
levels.  The ability to work with partners was also key, as was an understanding of 
the Welsh context and devolved government. This local emphasis was clearly 
reflected in the design of the process, with a substantial role given to stakeholders on 
both days of the assessment process.  
 
 

8. Advert  
 

Page 68



Appendix D 

7 
 

The application pack had been drawn up by the team in the PCC in line with the 
national guidance. The post had been advertised for three weeks ending 14 October 
via the websites for South Wales PCC, South Wales Police, and the College of 
Policing Senior Leadership Hub. In this way all eligible applicants in the UK pool were 
made aware of the opportunity. Every effort was made to be transparent about the 
availability of the post and to encourage all potential applicants to consider it.  The 
aim was to attract the strongest possible field of applicants, demonstrating openness. 
 
The published application pack was comprehensive, with links offering more detail. 
The pack included terms of appointment and met legal requirements. There was a 
clear intention to be open and transparent with candidates from the earliest stages of 
the process being published. 
 
The exercise was successful in that it attracted five initial enquiries, resulting in three 
applications.   
 
 

9. Assessment design 
 
The application form used was in line with the College of Policing guidance. It 
required details of the previous three postings held by the applicant; training, 
including successful completion of the Strategic Command Course; and evidence of 
skills and experience within the last three years related to the role profile. In being 
based on evidence of previous achievements, it was an appropriate tool to support 
merit-based judgements. 
  
The choice of interview questions was based on demonstration of evidence against 
the professional competency framework for policing, with a focus on seven 
competencies. A standard assessment sheet was provided, allowing panel members 
to rate candidates on a seven point scale against each competency. This was 
designed to give transparent evidence of a fair and equal process for all candidates.  
 
The interview questions produced by the PCC in liaison with the Independent 
Member were of good quality in that they were open questions, closely linked to local 
priorities. In discussion with myself, these were supplemented on the day by 
additional probing questions, to improve the balance between hypothetical future 
based questions and those asking about previous experience and achievements. 
This review also allowed the questions to be more clearly linked to the competency 
areas, again demonstrating a keenness to obtain clear evidence of performance, as 
part of a merit based approach.  
 
In discussing the scoring system to be used, it was agreed that the panel would not 
rely only on a simple arithmetic addition or percentage weighting of scores, noting 
there was no clear evidence on which to base any weighting. It was agreed in 
advance that the panel would compare the whole set of scores for each candidate 
and seek to come to a consensus decision.  
 
A familiarisation process prior to the two day assessment was included in the design 
of the process. It was confirmed that this was to inform candidates about the local 
context. It was not used to gain additional information about them. This was once 
again to ensure transparency and fairness.  The familiarisation process was 
conducted virtually rather than face to face on this occasion, as were the stakeholder 
and selection panels, due to Covid 19 restrictions. 
 
 

Page 69



Appendix D 

8 
 

 
 

10. Assessment delivery 
 
It was agreed in advance that the panel would be willing to decide not to appoint at 
the final selection stage. Standards would not be allowed to fall if the pool of 
candidates was not of sufficient quality.  
 
Three applications for the post were received, two external and one internal. 
Evidence from a survey presented to the Home Affairs Select Committee in 2018 
found that just over half of chief officers appointed were the only candidate for the 
job, with a national average of 2.21 candidates per vacancy. This suggests that in 
South Wales, the size of the response was good, with appropriate efforts having 
been made to make the process as open as possible.   
 
Shortlisting was carried out by the PCC in consultation with panel members, in line 
with the national guidance. It was agreed to shortlist all three applicants for interview, 
two males and one female. There was insufficient evidence at this stage to rule any 
candidate out.  
 
The timetable for the stakeholder panels and final interview allowed adequate time 
for each element. One hour was allowed for each final interview. The carefully 
planned timetable helped to ensure that the process would be objective, fair to all 
candidates who might have applied, and clearly based on merit.  
 
The PCC undertook to arrange the delivery of the final decision to candidates and to 
provide feedback to any unsuccessful applicants.   
 
 

11. Assessment decision making 
 
Each panel member first scored separately at the interview stage. Scores were 
collated and any differences of opinion were discussed, in order to agree a 
moderated consensus view. This enabled the candidates to be carefully assessed on 
merit, with reference to evidence throughout.  
 
Consensus was reached throughout, and there was a unanimous recommendation 
regarding the preferred candidate, who scored above others in respect of the 
competency framework. It was noted that the interview panel’s recommendation 
concurred with those of each of the three stakeholder panels. 
 
The panel made a unanimous recommendation that Deputy Chief Constable Jeremy 
Vaughan was the preferred candidate. The PCC concurred with this in making his 
own decision to recommend DCC Jeremy Vaughan to the Police and Crime Panel 
Confirmatory Hearing for appointment as the next Chief Constable of South Wales.  
 

. 
12. Conclusions  

 
Through the steps outlined above, the PCC fulfilled his responsibility to ensure the 
selection process was properly put in place in accordance with the responsibilities set 
out in the national guidance. Well planned use of the competency framework 
throughout the process allowed clear evidence to be recorded and evaluated in order 
to make objective decisions. The panel rigorously challenged and tested the 
candidates against the necessary requirements for the role, giving assurance that the 

Page 70



Appendix D 

9 
 

recommended appointment was appropriate. There was also carefully considered 
discussion between panel members before coming to a unanimous decision.  
 
As the Independent Member I found that the decision-making process was 
demonstrably open and fair, with good efforts applied to seek the best available field 
of candidates. It was clearly based on merit, with decisions taken on careful analysis 
of evidence. Adherence to the highest standards throughout was taken seriously.  
 
Thanks to the scrupulous preparation done by the PCC, notably by Chief Executive 
Lee Jones, as well as to the professional attention devoted to the process by the 
panel, I can confirm that the selection of the preferred candidate to be Chief 
Constable of South Wales met the principles of fairness, openness and merit. 
 
 
Gill Lewis 
Independent Member 
October 2020 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 71



Appendix D 

10 
 

Appendix A: Independent Member role profile  

Home Office Circular 13/2018 states that at least one member of the appointment 
panel should be an Independent Member. It is important that the Independent 
Member is suitably experienced in selection and assessment practices, so they can 
determine the extent to which the appointment process is conducted in line with the 
principles of merit, fairness and openness.  

The role as set out in College of Policing Guidance for Appointing Chief Officers  
requires the independent member to   

 be suitably experienced and competent in assessment and selection 
practices  

 

 undertake appropriate briefing / assessor training 
 

 be aware and have an understanding of the needs and interests of the 
recruiting force and local community 

 

 in collaboration with the PCC and other panel members, shortlist and 
assess applicants against the agreed appointment criteria and 
consider which candidate most closely meets the appointment criteria 

 

 produce a written report on the appointment process, to be submitted 
to the PCP at the same time as the name of the preferred appointee, 
expressly and explicitly addressing the appointment principles of 
merit, fairness and openness and the extent to which the panel was 
able to fulfil its purpose (eg to challenge and test that the candidate 
meets the necessary requirements to perform the role). 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



Appendix D 

11 
 

Appendix B: Independent Member pen picture - Gill Lewis 

 
I have led or advised on senior Police recruitment at Chief Officer level since 2007, 
firstly to meet Police Authority requirements, and since 2013 under the revised 
guidance to meet PCC/Chief Constable needs. I have also worked as an 
independent assessor for the College of Policing and its predecessor at the national 
senior police recruitment and promotion centres, including at the Senior Police 
National Assessment Centre; for Fast Track assessment centres for serving 
Constables and for external graduates; and for the Direct Entry programme at 
Inspector and Superintendent level. 
 
I have led and monitored numerous appointments at the equivalent of chief executive 
level in a range of other public sector arenas beyond policing, including in Probation, 
the NHS, and in the housing and education sectors.  
 
My earlier career spanned senior management roles in local government, in housing 
and social care, and in the NHS, where latterly I was Director of Service 
Improvement for Suffolk Primary Care Trust. I have also held a range of public 
appointments as a Non-executive Director or Chair in a Police Authority, Probation 
Trust, NHS Trust, housing association and various charities. This has included at 
both local and national level, for example, as Chair of the National Housing 
Ombudsman Board and as Chair of Norfolk and Suffolk Probation Trust. I have had 
wide ranging leadership experience at Board level of managing major change 
programmes, collaborative arrangements and challenging savings plans, balancing a 
commitment to excellent public service with shrinking resources, all in a climate 
where public confidence and political accountability are key.  
 
For the past nine years I have served as a volunteer with a project to support 
homeless and vulnerable young people. I also work as a volunteer for my local 
Citizens Advice service.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Appointment of a Chief Constable
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D




